

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Attridge, Samantha (Ed.); te Velde, Dirk Willem (Ed.); Peter Andreasen, Søren (Ed.)

Research Report Impact of development finance institutions on sustainable development: An essay series

ODI Report

Provided in Cooperation with: Overseas Development Institute (ODI), London

Suggested Citation: Attridge, Samantha (Ed.); te Velde, Dirk Willem (Ed.); Peter Andreasen, Søren (Ed.) (2019) : Impact of development finance institutions on sustainable development: An essay series, ODI Report, Overseas Development Institute (ODI), London

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/206750

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.



https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Report

Impact of development finance institutions on sustainable development

An essay series

Edited by Samantha Attridge, Dirk Willem te Velde and Søren Peter Andreasen

September 2019



Readers are encouraged to reproduce material for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.

This work is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0.

Cover photo: A representative of Simpa Networks gives solar power demo to residents of Mathura, Uttar Pradesh. Credit: Asian Development Bank.

Acknowledgements

This is a joint publication by the Overseas Development Institute (ODI) and the Association of European Development Finance Institutions (EDFI). The editors are grateful to the authors of the essays for generously contributing to this publication. We would like to thank Elizabeth Tribone and the ODI central communications team for support in the development and design of the publication. This essay series emerged from the first EDFI Impact Conference which was held in partnership with ODI in March 2019 and has been funded by EDFI. Any views expressed are those of the individual authors.

About the authors

Alastair Usher is a co-founder of Ergon Associates. Over the past 15 years, he has worked on labour, employment and gender issues in emerging and developing economies worldwide. He works with a range of organisations, combining policy and strategy development, organisational strengthening and project implementation on governance, industrial relations, labour law and development economics. Before founding Ergon, Alastair was senior researcher for Incomes Data Services (IDS), acting as the United Kingdom research co-ordinator for the international Wage Indicator programme.

Alberto Lemma is a Research Fellow at ODI. Alberto specialises in private sector development, specifically in access to finance, business partnership programmes and the interplay between the private sector and climate change adaptation and mitigation. His work on finance focuses on development finance institution (DFI) impact assessment and the role of DFIs in development, small and medium-sized enterprise (SME) finance and access to innovative sources of finance such as crowdfunding or alternative financial mechanisms to SMEs.

Camilla Valeur Nygaard is a PhD fellow, University of Roskilde, Denmark (2017–2020). Her essay is part of her PhD project titled: 'In search for the developmental enterprise – a study of foreign direct investments in East Africa supported by the Danish DFI Investment Fund for Developing Countries (IFU)'. The PhD is partly funded by IFU. She is currently living in Nairobi, Kenya, where much of the field work is taking place.

Chris Isaac is one of AgDevCo's founding directors. He has been working on development finance issues in Africa for the past 18 years. He is a member of the AgDevCo board and the managing director for investments across the East and West Africa regions. Prior to AgDevCo, Chris worked at InfraCo Africa and as an economic adviser for the UK's Department for International Development (DFID). He started his career in corporate finance with Arthur Andersen. **Christiane Rudolph** is Head of Division of Corporate Strategy and Development Policy at Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG), a member of KfW Bankengruppe. Previously, she worked as Senior Environmental and Social Specialist within DEG's Sustainable Department. In her 20 years of working in emerging markets, she has gained wide experience and knowledge in sustainable finance and the impact of private sector investments. She studied geography and holds a Master's degree (MA) in international politics, economics and history where she focused on Africa and Asia.

Dirk Willem te Velde is the Head of the International Economic Development Group at ODI, Director of the Supporting Economic Transformation Programme and a Research Leader of the DFID and Economic and Social Research Council Growth Research Programme (DEGRP). He was a special adviser to the UK House of Commons inquiry into the future of development finance and on reform of CDC (the UK's DFI, formerly the Commonwealth Development Corporation), and to the UK House of Commons Trading Out of Poverty Group. He has written extensively on the G20 and development, facilitating a range of high-level G20–Commonwealth meetings. His research features regularly in the *Economist, Financial Times, Guardian, China Daily* and other media. He has advised donor agencies, developing-country governments and multilateral bodies. He has written and edited a dozen books, 30 peer reviewed articles and 40 book chapters related mainly to investment, trade and growth issues. He holds a PhD from Birkbeck College, University of London.

Elleke Maliepaard is a senior manager at DEG's department for Corporate Strategy and Development Policy. Elleke holds an MA in Development Management and has been working for DEG since 2010. The focus of her work is the monitoring of development impact of DEG's clients. Elleke is responsible for the development, implementation and management of DEG's Development Effectiveness Rating (DERa).

Jeroen Kwakkenbos is a Senior Aid Policy and Development Finance Advisor at Oxfam International working on European Union (EU) and multilateral development finance. Jeroen has extensive experience in global debates concerning development finance and, among others, leads Oxfam's work on the intersection between aid and private finance. Previously he worked for seven years as a Policy and Advocacy Manager at the European Network on Debt and Development (Eurodad) leading the work on aid quality and quantity.

Jeske van Seters is Head of Programme Private Sector Engagement at the European Centre for Development Policy Management (ECDPM). She conducts policy-oriented research, provides independent advice and facilitates dialogue, with specific focus on leveraging the private sector for sustainable development in Africa, and on EU–Africa relations.

Juho Uusihakala is Senior Development Impact Adviser at Finnfund. He specialises in development impacts of renewable energy and forestry investments at Finnfund.

Julian Frede is a senior manager at DEG's department for Corporate Strategy and Development Policy. Julian has an academic background in development economics with a doctoral degree in economics and teaching experience up to master's level. Furthermore, his working experience includes freelance consultancy on cost-benefit and general sustainability assessments in sub-Saharan Africa (English and French). During his six years at DEG he has been responsible for the steering and implementation of DEG's evaluation studies and the development and implementation of DERa.

Karoline Teien Blystad is a senior macro- and development economist at Norfund and has previous experience from consultancy and working in the public sector. She has a master's degree in 'Globalization – global politics and culture' from the Norwegian University of Science and Technology.

Kirsten Newitt has worked for Ergon Associates for over a decade, where she has delivered projects on labour, gender and development for DFIs, international organisations and multi-stakeholder initiatives including the International Finance Corporation (IFC), the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), the International Labour Organization (ILO), the World Bank, the European Commission (EC), IDH and Better Work. Before joining Ergon, she advised on employment and occupational health and safety (OHS) matters to government agencies in Australia and worked as a qualified lawyer in a commercial firm.

María José Romero is Policy and Advocacy Manager at the Eurodad, working on publicly backed private finance and development finance institutions. María José joined Eurodad in 2012, and she has published several reports on development finance-related issues. Before 2012, she worked at the secretariat of the Latin American Network on Debt, Development and Rights (Latindadd), based in Peru, on tax justice and development finance.

Matthew Gouett is an independent consultant contracted by ODI. Prior to his work with ODI, he was a Senior Analyst at the Canadian International Development Platform.

Michael W. Hansen is an Associate Professor in International Business at the Center for Business and Development Studies, Copenhagen Business School. He has been teaching, researching and consulting on issues related to foreign direct investment (FDI) and developing countries for more than two decades and has, prior to his academic career, worked for the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD).

Mollie Liesner manages AgDevCo's impact measurement team. She is an economic development specialist, with experience in market system development and women's economic empowerment. Prior to AgDevCo, Mollie lived in Ghana working on smallholder outgrower schemes for food crops. Mollie holds an a Master of Philosophy (MPhil) in Development Economics from the University of Cambridge.

Paddy Carter is Director of Research and Policy at CDC Group. He previously wrote about DFIs for the Center for Global Development (CGD), and ODI. He has a PhD in economics from the University of Bristol. Before studying economics, he was an equities analyst and business journalist.

Pierre Forestier is the Director of the Sustainable Development Department of Proparco. He is in charge of Proparco's environmental, social and governance due diligence, impact assessment, technical assistance and blending instruments. Previously, he was the head of the Climate Change Division of the Agence Française de Développement (AFD) in charge of driving and managing the AFD's strategy and activities in the fight against climate change. He also participates in international negotiations on climate change. Pierre is an engineering graduate and holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA).

Rene Kim is a founding partner of Steward Redqueen. He has extensive experience in assisting DFIs and multinationals to quantify their development impact.

Samantha Attridge is a Senior Research Fellow at ODI and is leading the research programme on blended finance. Prior to joining ODI, she led the Commonwealth's Financing for Development (FFD) policy research and development and advocacy work and was also Deputy Director of Sovereign Debt Management and Capital Market Development at Crown Agents. She is an an Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales Chartered Accountant who qualified with Pricewaterhousecoopers.

San Bilal is a Senior Executive and Head of Programme for Trade, Investment and Finance at ECDPM. His current activities focus notably on EU–Africa economic relations and structural transformation in Africa, with an emphasis on trade and sustainable financing for development.

Søren Peter Andreasen is Chief Executive Officer of EDFI. Before joining EDFI in 2016, Søren worked for 15 years in the consulting industry with a specialisation in development, finance, and investment in emerging markets. Søren holds a master's degree in public policy from Harvard University. He started his professional career with the United Nations (UN) Secretariat in New York before he joined McKinsey & Company in Copenhagen and subsequently co-founded the consulting firm Dalberg Global Development Advisors.

Teodora Nenova is Director of Innovative Impact Measurement at Steward Redqueen. She has particular expertise in analysing and quantifying the links between infrastructure investments and development.

Wilhelm Loewenstein is professor for development research and managing director of the Institute of Development Research and Development Policy at Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Germany, since 2005. He studied economics at U Göttingen from where he also received his PhD degree and the Habilitation. His main research interests include growth and poverty reduction in partially modernised economies and the economic evaluation of agricultural innovations in developing countries.

Contents

Ackno	owledgements	3
About	t the authors	3
List of	f boxes, tables and figures	9
Acron	lyms and abbreviations	10
Introd Samar Associ	luction and overview ntha Attridge and Dirk Willem te Velde, Overseas Development Institute, and Søren Peter Andreasen, iation of European Development Finance Institutions	12
Part 1	DFIs and job creation and decent work	21
1 All	Direct and indirect impacts of development finance institutions on job creation and decent work berto Lemma, Overseas Development Institute	22
2	Decent work and development finance	27
Ki	rsten Newitt and Alastair Usher, Ergon Associates	
3 Ch	From study to solution: bridging the skills gaps nristiane Rudolph, Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft	30
4 fra Wi	How private investment creates decent jobs in low- and middle-income countries: a new amework to measure the impact ilhelm Loewenstein, Ruhr-Universität Bochum	33
Part 2	DFIs and climate change: transformation and access to clean energy	38
5 to Sa	Understanding the impact of development finance institutions in catalysing private investment tackle climate change and increase access to energy amantha Attridge, Overseas Development Institute, and Matthew Gouett, independent research consultant	39 nt
6 Pie	Energy transition and the Paris Agreement erre Forestier, Proparco	42
7 Ka	A crucial role for development finance institutions in energy projects across sub-Saharan Africa aroline Teien Blystad, Norfund	45
8	Theories of change and the impacts of renewable energy investments	48

Juho Uusihakala, Finnfund, and Teodora Nenova and Rene Kim, Steward Redqueen

Part 3 Frontier issues in understanding the impact of DFI and private investment DFIs and economic transformation 9 Understanding the contribution of development finance institutions to economic transformation 55 Paddy Carter, CDC Group

53

58

10 A new focus for development finance institutions to enhance the role of economic transformation

Dirk Willem te Velde, Overseas Development Institute

11	Seeking impact unicorns: why development finance institutions should set their sights on	
trai	nsformational change	62

Chris Isaac and Mollie Liesner, AgDevCo

12 Not just any capital: why development finance institution intervention through foreign direct investment is different 66

Michael W. Hansen, Copenhagen Business School

Distributional impact of DFI investment

13 The impact of development finance institutions: what we know, what we don't and how to improve	70
Samantha Attridge, Overseas Development Institute, and Matthew Gouett, independent research const	ultant
14 Development finance institutions: a complement, not a panacea	74
María José Romero, Eurodad, and Jeroen Kwakkenbos, Oxfam	
DFI impact frameworks and tools	
15 Development effects of foreign direct investment in the realm of the New Development Paradigm: implications for development finance institutions	78
Camilla Valeur Nygaard, Roskilde University, and Michael W. Hansen, Copenhagen Business School	
16 Measuring and managing the development impact of an investment portfolio: the Develo Effectiveness Rating (DERa)	pment 84
Julian Frede and Elleke Maliepaard, Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft	
17 How can development finance institutions define and support 'The sustainably acting an financially successful company'	d 89
Julian Frede, Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft	
Hermoniaction of impact measurement	

Harmonisation of impact measurement

18 Harmonisation of impact measurement among development finance institutions and beyond: opportunities for European leadership 94

San Bilal and Jeske van Seters, European Centre for Development Policy Management

List of boxes, tables and figures

Boxes

Box 1	Sox 1 Key messages from the EDFI Impact Conference	
Tables		
Table 1	Key results from the studies in Honduras and Cape Verde	51
Table 2	Analytical framework: development effects in the realm of the NDP	81

Figures

Figure 1	Why skills matter	31
Figure 2	Bangladesh – annual change in modern sector employment growth	35
Figure 3	Additional modern sector jobs in Bangladesh and Brazil created from investing \$10 million	36
Figure 4	Distribution of IPPs in sub-Saharan Africa	46
Figure 5	Price pathway	49
Figure 6	Outage pathway	50
Figure 7	DEG's ToC	85
Figure 8	DERa outcome categories	85
Figure 9	Example decent jobs calculation	86
Figure 10	DERa indicators are linked to SDG target indicators	88
Figure 11	DEG contributions and sustainable client success	91
Figure 12	Aminoagro – DEG contributions to sustainable client success	91

Acronyms and abbreviations

AFD	Agence Française de Développement
CDC Group	United Kingdom development finance institution (formerly the Commonwealth Development Corporation)
CGE	Computable General Equilibrium
CSR	corporate social responsibility
DEG	Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (German Investment Corporation)
DERa	Development Effectiveness Rating
DFI	development finance institution
DFID	UK Department for International Development
E&S	environmental and social
EC	electricity consumption
EDFI	Association of European Development Finance Institutions
EFSD+	European Fund for Sustainable Development
EHS	environmental, health and safety
EIP	European External Investment Plan
ESG	environmental, social and corporate governance
Eurodad	European Network on Debt and Development
FDI	foreign direct investment
FMO	Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden N.V (Netherlands Development Finance Company)
GDP	gross domestic product
GHG	greenhouse gas
GW	gigawatt
GWh	gigawatt hour
HIPS0	Harmonized Indicators for Private Sector Operations
HR	human resource
IFC	International Finance Corporation
IFI	international financial institution
IFU	Investment Fund for Developing Countries (Denmark's Development Finance Institution)
ILO	International Labour Organization
IMP	Impact Measurement Project
10	input-output
IPP	independent power projects
KPI	key performance indicator
LDCs	least-developed countries
LICs	low-income countries
MDB	multilateral development bank

MNC	multinational corporation
MNE	multinational enterprise
NDP	New Development Paradigm
ODI	Overseas Development Institute
ODP	Old Development Paradigm
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PPA	power purchase agreement
PPP	purchasing power parity
PS2	Performance Standard 2
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
SMEs	small and medium-sized enterprises
ТоС	theory of change
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
WAP	working-age population

Introduction and overview

Samantha Attridge and Dirk Willem te Velde, Overseas Development Institute, and Søren Peter Andreasen, Association of European Development Finance Institutions

Introduction

The emergence of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) marked a change in development debates. Not only do the SDGs aim to promote an integrated approach to economic, social and environmental development, they place emphasis on a development model where the private and public sectors have complementary roles to play in supporting inclusive and sustainable growth. They also represent a major shift in the international community's strategy to achieve these Goals by recognising the central role of the private sector. Private investment and innovation are major drivers of productivity, inclusive economic growth and job creation, which are key ingredients to tackle poverty.

Given their core mandates, development finance institutions (DFIs) are set to take centre stage in contributing to this agenda. They play an important role in supporting economic growth through the mobilisation of private investment in developing countries through their financing, risk-sharing and supporting activities. As such, and as more development finance is invested in DFIs and by DFIs, they are expected to contribute to the achievement of the SDGs and are expected to provide evidence of this contribution and of the impact of private investment more broadly.

Members of the Association of European Development Finance Institutions (EDFI) jointly manage an investment portfolio of approximately \$50 billion in developing countries¹ and all have in place impact management frameworks, which they use to monitor and evaluate the financial and direct economic impacts of their individual investments. They have also recently begun to examine sector-wide impacts and wider societal impacts. They are increasingly focused on improving the understanding of the impact of their investment towards the achievement of the SDGs at the economy-wide level and on better articulating and communicating such impacts to relevant stakeholders such as shareholders, investee companies and the development community.

As part of this effort and to help promote knowledge exchange and learning around the impacts of this investment on the SDGs the EDFI hosted its first annual impact conference in March 2019 in co-ordination with ODI. The conference focused on the impact of investment on jobs, energy, climate change and economic transformation. The conference was attended by 90 experts and DFI decisionmakers, DFI shareholders, academic and think tank researchers and civil society stakeholders. Participants explored how DFIs are promoting impacts, current impact measurement practices, and how methods are evolving to improve understanding of impact.² Box 1 summarises the key conference takeaways.

To capitalise on the valuable conference discussion, participants and other experts were invited to submit short essays based on the themes of the conference. This set of essays which aims to take stock of the knowledge around the impact of DFI-facilitated investment brings

¹ See www.edfi.eu/news/responsiblefinancing/

² See EDFI (2019) for a summary of the conference discussions.

Box 1 Key messages from the EDFI Impact Conference

1. Harmonisation when feasible

Investors have different capacity to collect and disseminate data, but the ability of stakeholders to compare investor operations is currently hindered by different investor report styles.

2. Understand portfolio-level climate impacts

Project-level impact calculations may lead to suboptimal outcomes as there may be a tension between climate change adaptation, climate change mitigation, and poverty reduction.

3. Focus on quality and decency of jobs created as well as quantity

'Jobs created' does not offer the desired nuance of the relative impact on the job market caused by an investment or the distributional impacts of these jobs.

4. Clearer linkages between indirect job calculations and theories of change

Understanding indirect impacts can steer investments *ex-ante*, evaluate investments *ex-post*, and monitor and improve the impact of investments during the project – different products and models are required for these different areas.

5. Further partnerships and knowledge sharing

Bringing in diverse viewpoints and pursuing partnerships with those outside the immediate community allows for deeper consideration of the short- and long-term investor impact and for potential collaborations that can enhance these outcomes.

together a wide range of contributions which offer a rich array of perspectives from academics, researchers, practitioners and civil society.

Overview of essays

In bringing together this essay series we would like to take stock of DFI experience and the evidence base on DFI impact and share knowledge, using the SDGs as a framing lens, given the central role that DFIs are expected to play in supporting the achievement of the Goals. The SDGs are broad and cover multiple and interrelated areas. We chose specific areas for a deeper dive where we know DFI investment has had some proven impact on the SDGs or where DFIs have already begun to develop impact monitoring and evaluation frameworks. This essay series focuses on job creation, energy provision and combating climate change, thereby focusing on DFI impact on SDG 7 (ensuring access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all), SDG 8 (promoting sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all) and SDG 13 (taking urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts).³

There are also a range of general issues which require exploration to help advance our collective understanding of impact-cutting across these and other areas. First and foremost is the issue of measuring the indirect effects of DFI investment and its attribution. Increasing attention is being placed on understanding the economic spill over effects of DFI investment and the contribution of this to economic transformation and how to model this. Other frontier issues include understanding the impact of DFI investment on poverty and the impacts on different segments of the population. These issues are explored in Part 3 of this essay series.

³ https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdgs

We invited experts to reflect on these areas and submit short essays. We have structured the essay series into three sections:

- 1. DFIs, job creation and decent work
- 2. DFIs and climate change: transformation and access to clean energy
- 3. Frontier issues in understanding the impact of DFI and private investment

DFIs, job creation and decent work

Jobs matter. They boost living standards, raise productivity and foster social cohesion (World Bank, 2013). They are the main route out of poverty and are mainly created in the private sector. A report by the International Finance Corporation (IFC, 2013) finds that more than nine in ten jobs are created in the private sector in developing countries. We should not be surprised therefore that EDFI members regard job creation as the main measure of their development impact and prioritise job creation which thereby contributes to SDG 8.

The jobs challenge is significant. The world needs to create an additional 30.3 million new jobs each year until 2030 to keep up with demographic changes and the number of new entrants to the labour market. Just under half of these new jobs need to be created (13 million each year) in sub-Saharan Africa (Lemma, 2019). Not only do DFIs need to target job creation, they also need to consider and improve the quality of jobs. The Decent Work agenda has come to the forefront as a key response by DFIs.

EDFI members have a key role to play by promoting private investment, with the potential to create large numbers of quality jobs directly and indirectly through the indirect effects of private investment on suppliers and economywide productivity. Indeed, it is estimated that EDFI-investee companies employ over two million workers directly and a further three million jobs supported indirectly (EDFI, 2017).

Four essays explore and discuss the different approaches that DFIs employ to measure their impact on job creation and decent work and discuss examples of impact in this area.

Alberto Lemma's essay sets the scene. He flags the urgent need to create large numbers of quality jobs and provides an overview of the approaches DFIs employ to measure the direct and indirect impacts of their investment on job creation. He notes that the collective investment of EDFI members supported 5.4 million jobs in 2017 or around 0.2% of the global workforce and that some DFIs have started to report distributional employment impacts, e.g. percentage of jobs going towards women and that DFIs have made strong efforts to harmonise their job creation metrics which aids understanding of impact. The author discusses the need to focus not only on the number of jobs but also on the quality of those jobs, noting positive correlations between job quality and employment rates in member countries of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). He notes that 42% of workers worldwide - 1.4 billion people – were in vulnerable employment in 2017. Counting direct job creation is relatively straightforward but understanding indirect impacts on job creation is more complex. The author discusses the difference between indirect and induced employment impacts and outlines the modelling approaches that DFIs employ to estimate these different impacts, which include model-based and tracer-based estimations. The author concludes that more robust estimation techniques are required to better estimate and attribute indirect job creation to DFI investment and understand the distribution of these jobs.

Kirsten Newitt and Alastair Usher explore the quality job theme. They argue that job quality matters for development impact and proceed to discuss the first ever study on how DFIs contribute to decent work, setting out DFI best practice in creating quality jobs, examples of which include their commitment to the IFC's Performance Standards on Environment and Social Sustainability, the application of environmental and social compliance frameworks and advisory and technical support. They discuss the challenges that many DFIs face in creating quality jobs given that they often invest in the most challenging and risky environments. They discuss best practise examples from the study of how DFIs can support the creation of quality jobs and conclude by arguing that DFIs have an important role to play in demonstrating that the generation of quality jobs is compatible with competitive business models.

Christiane Rudolph argues that skills gaps are a major constraint on business success and adversely affect economic and social development and that addressing the skills gap has multiple positive impacts at the company level, throughout the value chain and in wider community development. DEG has developed in collaboration with the Boston Consulting Group a practical guide which client companies can use to identify and assess skills gaps. The author discusses this guide, how DEG has tailored its business support services to provide its clients with finance and advice to bridge skills gaps and how this approach is having wider positive impacts throughout the value chain and in wider community development.

Wilhelm Loewenstein's academic essay argues that most of the macroeconomic modelling of labour markets in mainstream economic models ignores the existence of a large proportion of the population who live below the poverty line and derive their living in the informal sector in developing countries. This, he argues, is a fundamental difference in labour markets between high-income and developing countries. He then empirically estimates the link between investment and job creation in a cross-sectional analysis, which, subject to the assumptions of the model, can be used to assess job creation impacts of DFIs. For example, using the regression results he argues that \$10 million invested in Bangladesh in 2008 created an additional 564 formal sector jobs in 2008 and 350 in 2016.

DFIs and climate change: transformation and access to clean energy

Lack of access to reliable energy supply is a major constraint to economic growth and development in many developing countries. At the same time, energy production and consumption is a major contributor to climate change. If the world is to meet the universally agreed United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) Paris target of keeping global warming to less than 2°C, then much of this energy production and consumption will have to be clean. SDG 7, SDG 13 and the UNFCCC Paris Agreement set out the action required. The investment needed to meet these goals is enormous. For example, data from the the International Energy Agency (IEA), World Bank, the International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) and the Climate Policy Initiative, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and UN Environment (2018) indicate that between \$1.1 trillion and \$1.3 trillion⁴ in financing is needed annually between now and 2030 to meet SDG 75 alone. Currently, annual financing levels are around \$500 billion per year; most of which is concentrated in developed and middle-income countries. Private investment will be key to meeting SDG 7, SDG 13 and the Paris Agreement and DFIs play a key role in incentivising and catalysing this private investment.

Most EDFI members have made policy pledges and created investment targets to support increased access to affordable and reliable clean energy (SDG7) and the implementation of the Paris Agreement under the UNFCCC. It is not surprising then that EDFI members invested €2 billion in the power sector during 2017 and the combined EDFI investment portfolio in power totalled €8.2 billion; accounting for 22% of the total EDFI portfolio.

Four essays explore and discuss what DFIs are doing to tackle climate change and discuss example case studies of impact in this area.

Samantha Attridge and Matthew Gouett set the scene and discuss how DFIs are increasingly creating investment targets to support increased access to affordable and reliable clean energy (SDG7), to combat climate change (SDG13) and to support the implementation of the Paris Agreement, noting that the range of ambition varies among EDFI members. They discuss the metrics DFIs report on, highlighting reporting gaps and the lack of harmonisation which hinders transparency and comparability. They conclude by identifying areas where EDFI members should strengthen their reporting which includes contribution of renewable energy

⁴ All figures in United States dollars unless stated otherwise.

⁵ Under a no policy-change scenario.

investment to total gigawatt hours (GWh) produced, distributional impact reporting and reporting the carbon footprint of DFI investment portfolios, as well as highlighting an agenda for independent research, which includes the impact of DFI investment on universal access and the additionality of DFI investment in clean energy.

Pierre Forestier discusses the crucial need to transform our modes of production and consumption and to transition to sustainable and inclusive carbon-free growth models. The author argues that the private sector will play a crucial role in this transition and that a fundamental shift in thinking and approach is required to re-orientate public and private investment to support this transition. The author discusses how the Agence Francaise de Développement (AFD) and Proparco have mainstreamed this paradigm shift by integrating the fight against climate change throughout their operations, most notably by ensuring 100% alignment of operations with the Paris Agreement, increasing the volume of climate finance, re-orientating investment flows and influencing standards and regulation. The author outlines the shift in its approach for assessment of its climate impact from assessment of an individual investment to the total carbon footprint of its operations.

Karoline Teien Blystad argues that power shortage is holding back growth in sub-Saharan Africa and that the public sector can't fully fund the immense investment required to close the investment gap. She notes the size of the challenge. Energy generation capacity in sub-Saharan Africa needs to triple from its current capacity of 103 gigawatts (GW), noting that the region, with a population of over 1.1 billion, had less capacity than Spain (106 GW) with a population of just 47 million. Private investment will be critical. The author argues that investment in independent power projects (IPPs) will be key and are one of the fastest sources of energy investment in sub-Saharan Africa. The author discusses evidence from a Norfund study which found that DFIs played a key role in crowding in private investment in IPPs by providing risk mitigation to the private sector where the offtaker lacked an investment-grade rating. The study found that IPPs increased the installed energy capacity of sub-Saharan Africa by 17%

during the period 1994 to 2014 and that most of these IPPs had some form of DFI investment.

Juho Uusihakala, Teodora Nenova and Rene Kim outline the theory of change which underpins Finnfund's investment in the power sector and enables Finnfund to analyse the direct, indirect and wider impacts of its investments in power and inform its investment decisions. The theory of change has been informed by a number of studies undertaken by Steward Redqueen on the impact of Finnfunds' investment in renewable energy in Cape Verde and Honduras. They discuss the theoretical impact pathways and present the study results finding that Finnfund investment had reduced the average cost of electricity generation by 8% in Cape Verde and 5% in Honduras and reduced power outages which is estimated to have increased gross domestic product (GDP) in both countries by 0.2%. However, the studies also found that the impact of increasing installed energy capacity is limited if the price of electricity is not cost reflective.

Frontier issues in understanding the impact of DFI and private investment

This section offers a range of perspectives on frontier and general issues on DFI impact in four areas: (i) spill over effects and economic transformation; (ii) distributional impacts; (iii) DFI impact frameworks and tools; and (iv) the need for DFIs to harmonise their impact metrics.

DFIs and economic transformation

Increasing attention is being placed on understanding the spill over effects of DFI investment on the local economy and the contribution of this to economic transformation, which is defined as a long-term process of shifting capital and labour from low productivity to high productivity activities, both within and between sectors.

This is a very challenging frontier area, as *Paddy Carter* explains in his essay. He argues that the eradication of poverty will require the transformation of unproductive economies into ones capable of sustaining a decent standard of living for all their citizens. He argues that DFI investment can accelerate this process, but that it is difficult to identify the impact of an individual investment on economic transformation and inclusive growth. He briefly discusses several approaches that can be used, arguing that DFIs must find new ways of bridging this gap as well as better ways to communicate this impact to external audiences.

Dirk Willem te Velde argues that while DFIs already contribute to the process of economic transformation, they can do more to support the process of economic transformation once the initial investment has been made by working collaboratively with others to enhance the impact of an investment throughout its life-cycle. He suggests three types of activities which DFIs should collaboratively focus on to support the transformative impact of their investment: investment co-ordination, development of linkage programmes and policy influence. He concludes that DFIs are well placed to build markets and that this requires skills beyond project finance.

Chris Isaac and Mollie Liesner argue that DFIs should target their investment in 'impact unicorns', companies that can kick-start a process of transformational change, generate over a billion dollars of value for society and lift large numbers of people out of poverty. They note that true transformation is infrequent but when it happens it can be incredibly powerful, helping to create new industries and crowd in private capital, citing case studies where transformational change has been kick-started by DFI investment. They outline how AgDevCo tracks transformational change and in a new approach to measuring the impact on transformation is experimenting with network analysis.

Michael W. Hansen argues that the development impacts of DFI blending with foreign direct investment (FDI) are fundamentally different to those impacts arising from DFI blending with other types of capital such as local firms and entrepreneurs. This is because FDI – in contrast to other types of capital – is accompanied by propriety assets and competencies. The essay discusses the potential implications of this argument for DFI strategy and methodologies to measure impact.

Distributional impact of DFI investment

Samantha Attridge and Matthew Gouett provide a short summary of their assessment of the state of the literature base on DFI impact and what it tells us. Their essay draws on an evidence assessment undertaken for the United Kingdom's Department for International Development (DFID). In their assessment they argue that we know that DFI investment creates jobs and increases the installed energy capacity of countries, which has positive direct, indirect, and induced effects but that we know much less about who gets these newly created jobs, their impact on poverty alleviation, or the affordability of the generated energy and who accesses it. They argue that this lack of understanding currently undermines the robustness of the theory of change for DFIs.

María José Romero and Jeroen Kwakkenbos discuss the important role that DFIs play in supporting the achievement of the SDGs but argue that this is a very specific role and they should not, therefore, be viewed as a panacea to all development challenges. They argue that greater understanding is required around the role of DFIs in public service delivery in areas such as health and education and that increased investment of aid in DFIs should not come at the expense of grant resource allocation for the provision of critical public services such as health and education. They argue that not enough is understood about how DFI investment supports the eradication of poverty and identify gaps in current DFI frameworks, arguing that DFIs need to strengthen their engagement and accountability to the communities affected by their investment.

DFI impact frameworks and tools

Camilla Valeur Nygaard and Michael W. Hansen argue that the 'New Development Paradigm' associated with SDGs requires new thinking and approaches about how to measure and understand the wider economic, social and environmental impacts of DFI investment. They present and discuss a new conceptual framework to capture these wider, interrelated impacts, which DFIs could use to help DFIs increase the development impacts of their investments.

Julian Frede and Elleke Maliepaard discuss how DEG uses its Development Effectiveness Rating (DERa) system to guide and manage its investments and to measure the development impact. They describe DEG's theory of change and explain how the DERa works and is linked to the SDGs. The DERa score is an institutional key performance indicator (KPI) and they argue that by targeting the DERa score as a measure of investment performance in addition to financial indicators incentivises investment which maximises development impact.

Julian Frede argues that companies which act sustainably and are financially successful have positive economic, social and environmental benefits. A prime objective of DEG is therefore to contribute to the sustainable success of client companies. The author describes a new strategic evaluation study by DEG which defines the attributes of a sustainable and financially successful company, how these attributes can be measured and how DFIs like DEG can contribute. The author illustrates this with some investment case studies. The study also underpins DEG's theory of change and the development of its DERa.

Harmonisation

There are currently many different approaches to measuring the development impact of DFI investment. San Bilal and Jeske van Seters discuss this issue. They argue that in response to increased attention and scrutiny on how DFIs operate and the impact of their investments, DFIs are strengthening their impact management frameworks and capacity. However, the diversity of DFIs and their impact frameworks creates challenges and hinders comparability and credibility of impact metrics reported by DFIs. Cognisant of these challenges they argue that different harmonisation initiatives can flourish side by side, for different impact metrics at different levels and at different speeds but that these efforts should be complementary and coordinated. In this regard they argue that members of the EDFI are well placed to lead these harmonisation efforts rallying around the European Investment Plan and its European Fund for Sustainable Development (EFSD+).

Conclusions and main findings

There is no doubt that DFI investment has a positive impact on job creation. There is a robust evidence base as discussed by *Attridge and Gouett* and *Lemma*. *Loewenstein* expanded this evidence

recently by exploring the link between capital investments and job creation in labour surplus in developing countries. Most DFIs report on the number of jobs created but there is growing appreciation that this does not offer the desired nuance of the relative impact on the job market or the distribution of these jobs. Further, there is a need for more robust estimation techniques to be developed to better estimate indirect job creation and to better understand the attribution of this to DFI investment. Some examples such as those by Finnfund described in this essay series are going in the right direction, by developing a theory of change from power investments to job creation.

There is also increasing recognition that it is not just the number of jobs that is created that matters for social and economic development but also the quality of those jobs as argued by *Lemma*, *Usher and Newitt*. EDFI members are engaging in the decent work agenda and play an important role in demonstrating that the creation of quality jobs need not come at the expense of profits, rather proving the positive relationship between job quality, productivity and profitability.

It is clear that DFI investment has beneficial spill over effects on the wider economy. There is a need to move beyond narrow impact metrics such as job creation to also improve our understanding of the wider macroeconomic and transformative impacts of DFI investment as argued by *Carter*. Not only do DFIs need to better target transformative investment as argued by *Isaac and Liesner* but they need to do more to support the process of economic transformation post-investment by collaborating with others to coordinate investment, develop linkage programmes and influence policy as argued by *te Velde*.

While it is clear that investment supported by DFIs has numerous micro- and broader macroeconomic impacts widely discussed through the essays (Attridge and Gouett, Blystad, Carter, Hansen, Issac and Liesner, Lemma, Newitt, and Usher, Nygaard and Hansen, Rudolph, Uusihakala and Kim) there is a need to better understand the impact of DFI investment on inclusive growth and how it impacts different segments of the population (Attridge and Gouett, Carter, Lemma, Romero and Kwakkenbos). Private investment will be key to combating climate change and meeting the climate-related SDGs 7 and 13. DFIs have and will play a key role in incentivising and catalysing the investment required to transition to sustainable and inclusive carbon-fee growth models (*Attridge* and Gouett, Blystad, Forestier, Uusihakala and Kim). Most EDFI members have made pledges to target investment which combats climate change and/or supports the achievement of SDGs 7 and 13 and are gearing up their investment to combat climate change. But there is room for DFIs to improve and harmonise impact reporting in these areas which will help DFIs better tell their impact story (*Attridge and Gouett, Bilal and van Seters*).

EDFI members are strengthening their impact management frameworks, tools and capacity (Bilal and van Seters, Frede and Maliepaard, Frede, Rudolph) and efforts are underway by DFIs to harmonise their impact metrics which will help the comparability and credibility of impact metrics reported by DFIs (Attridge and Gouett, Bilal and van Seters, Lemma). EDFI members are well placed to lead these efforts spurred by the new European Investment Plan and its EFSD+ (Bilal and van Seters). Indeed, in May 2019 EDFI members agreed to the EDFI harmonisation initiative6 where all members will work towards the development and adoption of common definitions and methodologies to measure their impact on the SDGs. This will enable comparability and give a much clearer picture of the contribution of DFI investment to the SDGs.

These essays show that EDFI members have in place well-developed frameworks and tools to help them monitor and evaluate the financial and direct economic impacts of their investment. Impact at the micro level is well understood and advanced. At the macro level the essays also show that the DFI literature is catching up with the more developed literature base on the macro impact of aid, FDI and trade. Exciting new work is underway to better understand sector-wide and wider societal impacts of DFI investment. This work will be key to helping advance our collective understanding and informing investment decisions to maximise development impact. Efforts should be made to support this work by funding more independent and academic research.

Key messages

The following key messages emerge from this essay series:

- The SDGs have set an ambitious agenda which now frames all development efforts, including those by DFIs who have a central role to play in supporting economic growth and job creation through the mobilisation of private investment in developing countries.
- DFI and other private investment has

 a positive impact and is supporting the
 achievement of the SDGs. There is already
 a growing evidence base on how DFIs
 contribute to specific SDGs such as SDG 7
 (ensuring access to affordable, reliable,
 sustainable and modern energy for all),
 SDG 8 (promoting sustained, inclusive
 and sustainable economic growth, full and
 productive employment and decent work
 for all) and SDG 13 (taking urgent action to
 combat climate change and its impacts).
- EDFI members' annual investment is growing rapidly. Collectively they invested €8.0 billion in 2018 and the level of investment is set to increase. At the end of 2018 EDFI members had a combined investment portfolio of €41.2 billion. It is estimated that this investment has directly created over 2 million jobs and further supported the indirect creation of 3.4 million jobs annually, representing 0.2% of the global workforce.
- There is significant potential to harmonise impact measurement and reporting among DFIs and to share these approaches with private impact investors.
- Exciting new efforts are emerging to measure wider impacts, directly on job quality (by the Netherlands Development Finance Company, FMO) and indirectly on job creation informing the development of theories of

⁶ See www.edfi.eu/news/responsiblefinancing/

change for power investments (Finnfund). However, more can be done, and we should be careful assessing the wider impacts on economic transformation.

- Ambitious activities to measure portfolio climate impacts are being undertaken by FMO and Proparco.
- There is a strong literature base on the micro impacts of DFI investment and efforts are underway to better understand

the wider macro impact. These efforts should be supported by more academic and independent research and increased funding should be made available.

• Future work needs to: deepen job and transformation impact measurement, as well as distributional impact measurement; extend climate impact measurement across all EDFI members; and strengthen efforts to harmonise and collaborate across EDFI members.

References

- EDFI (2016) *Investing to create jobs, boost growth and fight poverty*. Brussels: Association of European Development Finance Institutions (www.edfi.eu/wp/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/EDFI-Flagship-Report-2016.pdf)
- EDFI (2019) EDFI conference report. Brussels: Association of European Development Finance Institutions (www.edfi.eu/wp/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/EDFI-Impact-Conference-Report-.pdf)
- IFC (2013) Jobs study assessing private sector contributions to job creation and poverty reduction. Washington DC: International Finance Corporation (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/ handle/10986/16979)
- Lemma (2019) *Impacts of private investment on sustainable development in developing countries*. Session note on Jobs – direct and indirect impacts on job creation and decent work. Brussels: Association of European Development Finance Institutions (www.edfi.eu/wp/wp-content/ uploads/2019/06/EDFI-Impact-Conference-Session-note-on-jobs.pdf)
- World Bank (2013) World Development Report 2013: Jobs. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/11843)

Part 1DFIs and job creationand decent work

1 Direct and indirect impacts of development finance institutions on job creation and decent work

Alberto Lemma, Overseas Development Institute

Abstract

Development finance institutions (DFIs) contribute to the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by promoting private investment. This investment has the potential to create large numbers of quality jobs directly and indirectly through the spill over effects of private investment on suppliers and economy-wide productivity. This essay examines the direct and indirect impact of DFI investments on job creation, identifying areas that merit further research and evidence.

Introduction

SDG 8 aims to 'promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all'.¹ To achieve this goal by the 2030 deadline, an additional 35,000 jobs need to be created each day in sub-Saharan Africa – that is 13 million each year. India alone needs to create 7.4 million new jobs each year. However, only two-thirds of the additional jobs needed annually were created between 2003 and 2016. We are off track and there needs to be a 50% increase in job creation to meet demand and achieve SDG 8.

It is not enough to consider the number of jobs, we also need to improve the quality of jobs. The International Labour Organization (ILO) estimates that approximately 42% of workers worldwide – 1.4 billion people – were in vulnerable employment in 2017. For developing countries, the proportion of vulnerable workers increases to 76% (ILO, 2018).

DFI investment contributes to SDG 8 through the direct effects on the quantity or quality of jobs created, and the indirect effects of the investment resources across the economy. It is worth looking at each of these in turn.

Direct impacts of investments on job creation

As noted, it is important to focus on both the quantity and quality of jobs. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) argues that there are no major trade-offs between creating more jobs and focusing on the quality of jobs. The OECD notes, in fact, that there are synergies between the two aspects: OECD member states that have jobs of good quality have also had higher employment rates (OECD, 2014).

Ergon Associates et al. (2019) cite three compelling reasons, at the firm level, to focus on job quality:

- improving access to export-oriented markets and international finance by meeting the requirements of key standards
- improving productivity through better work conditions, and
- reducing skills shortages by retaining staff and increasing the attractiveness of a firm for workers.

Members of the Association of European Development Finance Institutions (EDFI) are

¹ See https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg8

engaging in the decent work agenda around environment and social (E&S) compliance, engagement with clients, financial markers, partnership, and demonstration effects. The CDC Group, for example, states that its decisionmaking process prioritises investments in sectors that lead to jobs, using a Development Impact Grid where employment generation is one of the two criteria used to approve (or reject) an investment. Deutsche Investitionsund Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG) uses its recently introduced Development Effectiveness Rating (DERa)² evaluation toolkit to assess the *ex-ante* employment creation potential of investments. As part of the investment process, Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (FMO) investments must meet development impact criteria, which include employment impacts (FMO, 2018a). FMO's exante impact methodology tracks 'jobs supported' as one of two development impact indicators (FMO, 2018b).

DFIs report direct employment creation as a result of their investments through annual development impact reports. All EDFI members, for example, report 'direct jobs' as a joint EDFI indicator that eliminates double-counting of direct jobs from co-invested projects. Specifically, both Denmark's Investment Fund for Developing Countries (IFU) and Spain's Compañía Española de Financiación del Desarrollo (COFIDES) track direct employment creation for total commitments. Other DFIs, such as FMO and CDC Group provide more disaggregated information showing employment by geographic region and investments sector (i.e. energy or financial sector investments), among other metrics. Some DFIs also report distributional employment impacts, with Proparco and Norfund illustrating the percentage of jobs going towards women.

To improve their employment impact reporting, DFIs have made strong efforts to harmonise the indicators they use, especially in light of their adherence to the varied multilateral initiatives that promote the pursuit of the SDGs. One prominent example is the Harmonised Indicators for Private Sector Operations (HIPSO): a set of 38 indicators agreed by a group of 25 international financial institutions (IFIs). More strategic harmonisation efforts are also underway through EDFI's 'Principles for Responsible Financing' (EDFI, 2009).

DFIs have managed evaluations that aim to help them understand the direct employment impacts of their investments. DEG, for example, commissioned a set of studies to assess employment effects, including a study that examined a DEG loan (in syndication with FMO and Citibank) for a Chinese textile manufacturer, finding that the investment helped to increase the workforce by around 30% (DEG and BCG, 2016).

A case study of a joint CDC Group and International Finance Corporation (IFC) investment to provide small- and mediumsized enterprise (SME) finance for an Indian bank found that every \$1 million of SME loan financing created between 10 and 15 jobs directly in fund-client SMEs (Khanna and Kehoe, 2017). An evaluation of Swedfund's direct employment impacts compared *ex-ante* and *ex-post* data from portfolio case studies and found that its newer equity and loan investments in Africa had a significant and direct employment generation capacity (Spratt et al., 2018).

One study of DEG investments in a garment manufacturer in India found that the company paid wages that were, on average, 20% higher than the national minimum (Dangelmaier, 2015). Another study from DEG found that DEG investments supported a 39% growth in decent jobs within a Peruvian agricultural exporter firm (Dangelmaier, 2018).

Case studies can also provide short online highlights of investments, such as one carried out by the CDC Group (n.d.) on the job quality impact of one of its investments in a Bangladeshi electronics manufacturer where technical assistance from CDC Group was found to have helped to improve working conditions and gender equality in the firm.

² See essay 17 by Julian Frede which discusses the DERa.

Indirect impacts of investments on job creation

Two core concepts matter for the measurement of indirect employment effects. The first is defined by the IFC (2013) as 'employment changes in suppliers and distributors' of the beneficiaries of investment. One example of this indirect employment channel is DFI direct equity investments into a firm which helps to increase investee productivity and profitability. This leads to larger purchase volumes from local firms within their supply chains, and, therefore, the generation of jobs within these chains.

The second impact channel is the *induced employment* effects: the 'jobs resulting from direct and indirect employees spending more and increasing consumption' (IFC, 2013). These are the jobs generated as a result of the additional purchases or expenses made by the (net) additional direct and indirect jobs supported by DFI investments.

DFIs estimate their indirect impacts on jobs through model-based and tracer-based estimations. Model-based estimates, such as inputoutput (IO) tables, associated Social Accounting Matrices (SAMs), and multiplier-based analyses are based on the use of econometric models to estimate employment generation. Tracer studies, on the other hand, follow the investment throughout a supply chain to count the actual jobs created in the investee firms and within relevant firms throughout its supply chain.

CDC Group uses the IO approach through its 'Lean Data' methodology (MacGillivray et al., 2017) and FMO (2016) through its 'Impact Model'. FMO uses the IO methodology to estimate the direct and indirect employment effects of its infrastructure, manufacturing and service-sector investments. The study found that every €1 million invested created an estimated 370 jobs if invested in the transport sector, 85 in the telecommunication sector, and 420 in the manufacturing sector.

Examples of studies that assess the impact of DFI investment on macroeconomic production include a set of studies that looked at the effects of DFI investments in energy in the Philippines (Steward Redqueen, 2015), IFC energy investments in Turkey (Steward Redqueen, 2017a), IFC investments in energy in Bhutan (Datta et al., 2012) and Private Infrastructure Development Group (PIDG) investments in energy in Senegal (Steward Redqueen, 2017b).

Case-study approaches focus on the employment impacts of individual investments. For example, Scott et al.'s (2013) study on Bugoye hydropower plant in Uganda uses the IFC (2013) toolkit to estimate employment effects. It finds that the power plant would have contributed to the creation of between 8,434 and 10,256 jobs through the wider effect of supplying approximately 2.9% of Ugandan energy between 2009 and 2012.

The 2013 *Jobs Study* by IFC proposes quantitative methods that could be used to estimate the private sector's contribution to employment (IFC, 2013). Micro case studies are presented that estimate the number of direct and indirect jobs created per \$1 million invested by the IFC. These studies use a mixture of multiplier analysis, IO analysis and more to estimate the indirect employment impacts of IFC investments. The IFC also presents the study as a toolkit of methodologies that other financial institutions could use to evaluate their own impacts.

Some DFIs use econometric studies to assess employment impacts at the sectoral level. For example, FMO carried out an assessment of the induced employment impacts of its energy sector investments. This assessment found that by the end of 2014, 21 FMO projects were producing energy for a total of 10,353 gigawatt hours (GWh) per year and estimated that this energy would support a total of 106,000 direct and indirect jobs (FMO, 2015).

What do we know, and what don't we know?

DFIs put a lot of effort into understanding their employment impacts and often drive innovations in the (employment) impact-evaluation field. In 2015, ongoing investments by EDFI members were estimated to have contributed to 4 million jobs, by 2017 this had increased to 5.4 million, with approximately 2 million direct and 3.4 million indirect jobs supported by these investments.

We still do not know, however, whether we can be confident in attributing employment effects solely to DFI investments, rather than other factors such as changes in market conditions. We need more robust estimation techniques and further disaggregation on the types of jobs being tracked. This requires DFIs to gain tangible support, in terms of resources and specialised personnel, to effectively track such impacts.

References

- CDC Group (n.d.) 'RFL Electronics: working together to improve job quality'. Webpage. London: CDC Group (www.cdcgroup.com/en/labour-standards/rfl-electronics/)
- Dangelmaier, U. (2015) Committed to fair working conditions: DBL-Group: high labour and safety standards in the Bangladeshi garment industry pay off. Cologne: Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (www.jobsanddevelopment.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Case-Study_DBL-Group_2015.pdf)
- Dangelmaier, U. (2018) *Virú contributes to Peru's sustainable development*. Cologne: Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (www.deginvest.de/DEG-Documents-in-English/About-us/What-is-our-impact/EN_Case-Study_Viru_2018_final.pdf)
- Datta, N., Timilsina, G., Khanna, M. and Massuet, F.F. (2012) Estimating employment effects of Powerlinks Transmission Limited project in India and Bhutan. Washington DC: International Finance Corporation (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/671171468017990099/ pdf/819980WP0Power00Box379851B00PUBLIC0.pdf)
- DEG Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft and BCG Boston Consulting Group (2016) Bridging the skills gaps in China. DEG evaluation results. Cologne: - Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft and Boston Consulting Group (www.deginvest.de/DEG-Documents-in-English/About-us/What-is-our-impact/Case-Study_Hape-Holding-AG_EN_2016-02.pdf)
- EDFI Association of European Development Finance Institutions (2009) 'EDFI principles for responsible financing'. Brussels: Association of European Development Finance Institutions (www.edfi.eu/wp/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/EDFI-Principles-for-Responsible-Financing.pdf)
- Ergon Associates, Association of European Development Finance Institutions and Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (2019) *Decent work and development finance*. The Hague: FMO (https://ergonassociates.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Report-Decent-Work-and-Development-Finance-March-2019.pdf?x74739)
- FMO Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (2015) Annual sector evaluation 2015 energy. The Hague: Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (www.fmo.nl/about-us/reports)
- FMO (2016) *Investments in infrastructure manufacturing and services*. The Hague: Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden
- FMO (2018a) 2017 annual report. The Hague: Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (www.fmo.nl/l/nl/library/download/urn:uuid:338b0222-e922-40d2-a00c-87346d2b8b26/2017+fmo+annual+report.pdf)
- FMO (2018b) *Interim report 2018*. The Hague: Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (https://annualreport.fmo.nl/2017/ir2018/)
- IFC (2013) *IFC jobs study: assessing private sector contributions to job creation and poverty reduction.* Washington DC: International Finance Corporation (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/157191468326714061/pdf/835080WP0IFC0J00Box382079B00PUBLIC0.pdf)
- ILO (2018) World employment social outlook: trends 2018. Geneva: International Labour Organization (www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/ publication/wcms_615594.pdf)

- Khanna, M. and Kehoe, A. (2017) *SME finance and growth: evidence from RBL Bank*. London: CDC Group (https://assets.cdcgroup.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/06124531/SME-Finance-and-Growth-in-India.pdf)
- MacGillivray, A., Kim, R., van Moorsel, T. and Kehoe, A. (2017) *Measuring total employment effects: a lean data methodology for a portfolio of investments in developing countries*. London: CDC Group (https://assets.cdcgroup.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/25150849/Methodology-formeasuring-total-employment-effects.pdf)
- OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2014) 'How good is your job? Measuring and assessing job quality' in OECD employment outlook 2014. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Publishing (www.oecd-ilibrary.org/employment/ oecdemployment-outlook-2014/how-good-is-your-job-measuring-and-assessing-job-quality_empl_ outlook-2014-6-en)
- Scott, A., Darko, E., Seth, P. and Rud, J.-P. (2013) *Job creation impact study: Bugoye Hydropower Plant, Uganda.* London: Overseas Development Institute (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odiassets/publications-opinion-files/8436.pdf)
- Spratt, S., O'Flynn, P. and Flynn, J. (2018) *DFIs and development impact: an evaluation of Swedfund*. Stockholm: Expertgruppen för biståndsanalys (EBA) (https://eba.se/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018-01-Swedfund-webb.pdf)
- Steward Redqueen (2015) *Economic impact of IFI investments in power generation in the Philippines*. The Hague: Steward Redqueen (https://jobsanddevelopment.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/ Report-IFC-Philippines-power-project.pdf)
- Steward Redqueen (2017a) *How power investments contribute to jobs and economic growth in Turkey.* Washington DC: International Finance Corporation (https://jobsanddevelopment.org/ wp-content/uploads/2018/04/How-Power-Investments-Contribute-to-Jobs-and-Economic-Growthin-Turkey.pdf)
- Steward Redqueen (2017b) *The link between power investments and jobs in Senegal*. London: Private Infrastructure Development Group (www.pidg.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/PIDG-job-creation-report_final_published.pdf)

2 Decent work and development finance

Kirsten Newitt and Alastair Usher, Ergon Associates

Abstract

The Association of European Development Finance Institutions (EDFI) and Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden N.V (FMO) launched the report *Decent work and development finance* in 2019. The report is the first of its kind to set out the best practices of development finance institutions (DFIs) in relation to the principle of job quality. This essay summarises the main findings, outlining what job quality means in the field and how it can be supported.

Introduction

EDFI members share an explicit development mandate that underpins their investment strategy. This includes a strong focus on economic growth and regards job creation as a pathway to poverty reduction. EDFI-financed businesses employ over two million workers directly, with a further 3 million jobs – at least – supported indirectly (EDFI, 2017).

There is increasing recognition that the *quality* of these jobs matters for development. Where productivity is low, conditions insecure and incomes inadequate, the positive development impact of creating and sustaining employment is constrained and can even be undermined. In recognition of this, EDFI commissioned Ergon Associates to write a report on best practices in the creation of quality jobs (EDFI, 2019).

Commitment and operationalisation of decent work

Support for the decent work agenda has emerged as a prominent element of EDFI's commitment to progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs); with a particular emphasis on SDG 8 and its focus on decent work and economic growth. The concept of decent work, developed by the International Labour Organization (ILO), takes into account both the *quantity* and *quality* of jobs. Because the decent work agenda is so expansive, the concept of 'job quality' has emerged as a way to operationalise and understand impact at the level of the individual workplace.

This can help EDFI members to pay greater attention to the *characteristics* of jobs in the workplace. While there is no formally agreed definition of 'job quality' at the international level, it can be understood to cover:

- pay and other rewards
- intrinsic characteristics of work
- terms of employment
- health and safety
- work-life balance
- voice and agency.

Challenges in the promotion of job quality

EDFI members often make investments in the most challenging and risky environments where other investors are reluctant or unable to invest. Given the nature of their mandates and financing activities, EDFI members face (by design) four significant challenges in their efforts to promote job quality:

• EDFI members focus their investment on the poorest countries where there are typically

weaker governance and enforcement mechanisms and where there are fewer jobs in the formal sector.

- They invest at the enterprise level which makes it difficult to affect change where poor working conditions are the norm in a sector; e.g. long working hours or low wages.
- Businesses and policy-makers may have concerns about the impact of a 'job quality' agenda in fragile labour markets; concerns that are related to price competition and possible tensions between job quality and quantity.
- EDFI members may have limited visibility of labour risks in their portfolio by virtue of the project activities where infrastructure is constructed by contractors and sub-contractors, and by the structure of transactions themselves where debt or equity are intermediated by funds or financial institutions.

Best practices of EDFI members that support job quality

The report provides examples of how EDFI members can address these challenges and establish a demonstration effect in and through their portfolio businesses. In developing more robust people-management systems and making judicious investment in human capital, EDFI members can demonstrate that a focus on 'job quality' can go hand in hand with – and indeed boost demand for – job creation and skills development.

One of the main channels by which EDFI members promote job quality is through a firm commitment to the International Finance Corporation's (IFC) Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability. Performance Standard 2 (PS2) on Labour and Working Conditions is the primary standard that guides EDFI relationships with clients on decent work and job quality. EDFI clients are required to apply PS2 to their direct workforces and ensure that their contractors have systems in place to apply PS2 to their own workers.

All EDFI members have processes in place to assess environment and social (E&S) risks and impacts related to their investments, including those that relate to labour and working conditions. Identifying and mitigating the risk of non-compliance with labour standards is key for members, as nearly every transaction will entail at least some impact on jobs. Labour-rights abuses can constitute restrictions on fundamental, internationally recognised human rights, and labour risks can threaten operational continuity and the reputation of both EDFI members and their clients.

Beyond E&S compliance frameworks, EDFI members have adopted a range of practical measures to catalyse positive change within their clients and the markets in which they operate.

EDFI members have engaged with clients through advisory support and technical assistance to clients to introduce or strengthen workforce management systems. CDC Group, for example, has supported RFL Electronics Ltd. (REL) in Bangladesh, where advisors provided trainings and workshops that enhanced the company's know-how to help it develop its employment policies and procedures. This resulted in changes to the management of overtime, the reduction of daily working hours (while maintaining workers' pay), improvements in working conditions for contracted workers, improved grievance mechanisms, the expansion of training and awareness on harassment and gender issues, and the clarification and expansion of policies and procedures on health and safety.

EDFI members have engaged with financial markets through private equity funds and financial institutions. Members collaborate increasingly with these actors to raise awareness of labour-rights concerns, offering training and guidance materials to boost the capacity of fund managers and financial institutions to manage labour compliance risks. One example was a sector initiative in Bangladesh in 2016 and 2018 by FMO, Oesterreichische Entwicklungsbank (OeEB), Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG) and Proparco to build local capacity, to strengthen E&S knowledge, including PS2 requirements, as well as to provide training sessions for banking officials.

There is also engagement with partners. EDFI, itself, offers an important platform for dialogue and cooperation between members, as well as with other (multilateral and bilateral) development finance institutions. Dialogue with trade unions is another means used by some European DFIs to increase their contribution to the decent work agenda, while a number have sought to establish partnerships with private sector actors, experts, or civil society organisations to increase their impact.

Conclusion

There is an important role for EDFI members in demonstrating that decent jobs are compatible with competitive business models. This can lead to market transformation and a better mutual understanding of challenges, objectives and areas of common interest between members and key stakeholders. The benefits include normalising respect for labour rights as standard terms of business in emerging and developing markets, guiding and developing the people-management systems and capacity of clients, and driving enhancements to job-quality measurement frameworks; all of which can enable consistent and streamlined assessment of job quality throughout EDFI portfolios.

References

- EDFI (2017) *Investing to create jobs, boost growth and fight poverty*. Brussels: Association of European Development Finance Institutions (www.edfi.eu/wp/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/EDFI-Flagship-Report-2016.pdf)
- EDFI (2019) *Decent work and development finance*. Brussels: Association of European Development Finance Institutions (www.edfi.eu/wp/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Report-Decent-Work-and-Development-Finance-March-2019-2.pdf)

3 From study to solution: bridging the skills gaps

Christiane Rudolph, Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft

Abstract

Jobs are the best way out of poverty! As well as providing an income, a job opens up the possibility of a self-determined life. However, a lack of qualifications and skills is often an issue for people in finding the right jobs and for companies in finding the right people. Job creation is one key objective of development finance institutions (DFIs) and a vital contribution to Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 8 on decent work and economic growth. As a DFI, Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG) has taken up this issue by undertaking a comprehensive study to collect examples of good practice and develop a three-step approach for companies to address skills gaps in the workforce, along the value chain, and at community level. DEG has drawn on the findings to tailor its own business-support services and aims to provide private sector clients with finance and advice to help them bridge the skill gaps.

Introduction

More than 200 million people are looking for jobs. While they search, companies complain that it is difficult to fill vacant positions or find suitably skilled staff. These skills gaps - the gaps between the skills needed for a job and the capabilities of the workforce - represent a major constraint on business success for companies, but also on wider social and economic development, particularly in developing countries. Ways in which entrepreneurs can close these skills gaps through appropriate measures implemented across their workforce, their suppliers, and their local communities lie at the heart of the study Bridging the skills gaps in developing countries: a practical guide for private sector companies by DEG in cooperation with Boston Consulting Group (DEG, 2016a). The study is a contribution from the Association of European Development Finance Institutions (EDFI) within the framework of the international 'Let's work partnership'.1

A proven win (company), win (people), win (communities)

The study emphasises a clear win-win-win situation: measures to bridge skills gaps benefit not only employees but also companies and their immediate environment. They boost staff productivity, product quality, innovation, job security, employee satisfaction and motivation, as well as a company's image.

In addition, bridging skills gaps along the value chain leads to lower purchase prices for production materials and smoother workflows. Ultimately, bridging skills gaps in local populations means a stronger anchoring of businesses within communities and, subsequently, a wider acceptance across society. Based on this understanding, our approach to bridging the skills gaps is clustered into three analytical frameworks, targeting three different levels: within the company's own current and prospective workforce; along the value chain

¹ https://letswork.org

Figure 1 Why skills matter



Community development

- Better community relations and securing of social licence to operate
- Improved government relations
- Enhanced company reputation
- Improved long-term supply of employees

for suppliers and clients; and in the broader

community (Figure 1). Regarding workforce development, the study collected successful approaches along the entire value chain of human resources in the areas of planning, recruitment, performance management, apprenticeships and training, staff involvement/ retention, and leadership. It demonstrated how skills gaps can be bridged successfully in ways that go far beyond training measures.

Starting point – collection of good practices

Examples of good practice can be found all over the world. The study took the effort to collect more than 60 examples where bridging the skills gaps resulted in workforce, supply-chain and community development. In Bangladesh, for example, a leading manufacturer of ready-made garments in the low-to-medium price sector had a skills gap in production mid-management. Its line supervisors and line chiefs required a deeper understanding of modern production layout and techniques, and a technical understanding of the different machines, as well as strong leadership and communication skills. By addressing these skills gaps, the company experienced a substantial increase in productivity and quality and its employees benefited from higher wages and skills development. In the community, the company financed education for local children and increased employability of young women from local villages which resulted in higher family incomes and better health (DEG, 2016b).

In Brazil, a private hospital operator had difficulties recruiting and retaining low-tomedium-qualified operational workers – those involved in auxiliary medical tasks, nursing work, and technical support functions. The company's measures to address these skills gaps enabled it to maintain its high-quality standards and fill positions internally. For its employees, these initiatives helped improve their career prospects and increase their salaries. By involving employees in its community development initiative, the company not only realised the initiative at low cost but also instilled a sense of pride among its employees. For the community, the neighbourhood qualification project boosted local employment and the training of healthcare professionals contributed to improvements in Brazil's public healthcare system (DEG, 2016c).

A three-step approach to assess and bridge the skills gaps

DFIs know that enhancing skills and bridging supply and demand are crucial to success for any company and for wider society. To better support its clients, DEG – within the framework of the study – has developed a three-step approach to help companies assess and bridge their skills gaps.

1. First, a practitioner's guide shows companies how to identify their skills gaps both qualitatively and quantitatively, how to analyse their root causes, and how to address them adequately and efficiently. It also showcases the benefits for companies, employees and communities.

- 2. Second, a self-assessment tool provides management with an initial analysis of their skills 'situation'.
- 3. And third, various assessment methods are deployed for more detailed analysis.

This three-step approach allows companies to concentrate their activities on the businesscritical issues. It has been tested and optimised in several case studies from DEG's portfolio: in addition to the Bangladesh and Brazilian examples, studies have also been undertaken in Mexico, Namibia, Pakistan, South Africa and Sri Lanka.

Conclusion

Within its technical assistance programme, Business Support Solutions, DEG has taken up the three-step approach developed in the study. It supports its portfolio companies in the process of detecting and bridging their skills gaps with finance and advice. Our support is enabling companies to address critical needs, which not only benefits companies and their employees, but also has wider positive impacts through valuechain and community development.

References

DEG – Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (2016a) Bridging the skills gaps in developing countries: a practical guide for private sector companies. Cologne: Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (www.deginvest. de/DEG-Documents-in-English/About-DEG/ What-is- our-impact/Bridging-Skills-Gaps_ DEG_2016.pdf).

DEG (2016b) 'JMS Holdings Ltd.' in *Bridging the skills gaps in developing countries: a practical guide for private sector companies*: 87–98. Cologne: Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (www.deginvest.de/DEG-Documents-in-English/About-DEG/What-is-our-impact/Case_Study_JMS_ Holding_Ltd_Web.pdf).

DEG (2016c) 'Hospital Sírio Libanês' in *Bridging the skills gaps in developing countries: a practical guide for private sector companies*: 76–86. Cologne: Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (www.deginvest.de/DEG-Documents-in-English/About-DEG/What-is-ourimpact/Case_Study_Hospital_Sirio_Libanes_Web.pdf).

4 How private investment creates decent jobs in low- and middle-income countries: a new framework to measure the impact

Wilhelm Loewenstein, Ruhr-Universität Bochum

Abstract

Unlike high-income countries, where there is no absolute poverty, low- and middle-income economies are characterised by significant shares of the population living below the poverty line and working in the informal sector. The presence of an invisible and poverty-stricken informal sector in developing countries - ignored by most macroeconomic literature - is the most glaring contrast between highincome and low- and middle-income countries. It has a major impact on the functioning of the macroeconomic labour market in developing countries, as the labour demand of the modern sector, comprising agribusiness, manufacturing, banking etc., can draw on a perfectly elastic supply of labour from the poverty-stricken informal sector. Informal sector production includes subsistence agriculture, petty trade, day labour and other low-productive activities, which are fructified neither by capital nor by total-productivity growth and generate a bad and volatile pay. Informal workers who want higher wages switch from informal to modern sector employment whenever there is a vacancy. Modelling suggests that growth in developing countries is endogenous, capital and labour have no diminishing returns and per-capita incomes move along a steady-state growth path. Net investment widens capital as it creates new modern sector jobs, and poverty is reduced as the new jobs provide incomes above the poverty line. Empirical testing based on panel data from 73 low- and middle-income countries from 1990 to 2011 supports these suggestions.

Introduction: labour-market effects of private investment in mainstream models

Mainstream economic models abstract from differing realities in high-income and in developing countries and assume – in line with general equilibrium theory – that all markets function smoothly everywhere. In such models, there is no involuntary unemployment, capital is spread evenly across the fully employed labour force and, during a transitional period, investment leads to a rise of the capital stock per worker (capital deepening), to increase labour productivity and wages (Solow, 1956). Under full employment, however, additional new jobs can only be created to the extent to which increased wages attract new workers. Otherwise, mainstream models suggest that investment-induced new jobs must replace old jobs, meaning that the net effect of private investment on job creation must be zero in the long run. The level of employment, therefore, cannot depend on investment but on the natural employment rate and is determined by the number of people who want to work (Krugman, 1993; Mussa, 1993). This implies that any attempt to estimate the job-creation effects of private investment based on mainstream theories is a mission impossible.

A disequilibrium model for growth and employment dynamics in developing countries

Borrowing from Loewenstein and Bender (2017) and against the neoclassical mainstream, I conceptualise developing countries as being similar to high-income countries in some respects, but very different in others. Similarities include a well-observed and poverty-free modern formal sector, an unobserved and povertyfree modern shadow economy (where firms and workers conceal their market-based legal production from public authorities to avoid taxes and regulations), and an unobserved illegal sector where economic activities are forbidden by law. In high-income countries, one-third of the working-age population (WAP) is outside formal employment and absolute poverty does not exist, while more than two thirds of WAP in low- and middle-income economies are outside formal employment and significant shares of the population live below the $(PPP)^1$ a day poverty line and work in the informal sector. The existence of an unobserved, unregulated, unreached and poverty-stricken informal sector in developing countries - ignored by most macroeconomic literature - is the most important dissimilarity between the two country groups.

I propose a model framework to close the knowledge gap on this dissimilarity. This argues that a well-observed modern formal sector in developing countries interacts with the unobserved poverty-stricken informal sector via the labour market.²

The formal and the informal sector produce substitutional outputs, and labour is homogeneous. The formal sector produces output combining capital with formal sector labour at a given level of total factor productivity. The modern sector of developing countries has a high capital intensity³ that is similar to the capital intensity found in high-income economies. Reflecting the marginal productivity of labour, modern sector workers earn a wage well above the poverty line. Formal sector output generation is represented in equation 1 by a conventional linear homogeneous production function that, in principle, has the standard neoclassical properties.

Equation 1: Formal sector output generation

(1)
$$Y^f = (A^f K^f)^a L^{f(1-\alpha)}$$

In contrast, the informal sector's output is produced solely by using labour as an input. As a result, its productivity is low, and per capita income in the informal sector remains below the poverty line. This supports the proposition that in the presence of some type of labour market failure, a considerable wage differential between the formal and the informal sector persists.

Such failure stems from informal sector poverty. Given that even in middle-income countries 10–30% of the population live below the poverty line of \$2 a day (PPP) and that this share rises to above 60% on average in low-income countries, the formal sector in these countries can draw on a large supply of labour from the informal sector. As labour supply relative to labour demand is small, the market-clearing wage⁴ is near to zero. If informal sector workers earn an income (v^i) that enables their families' subsistence, they are unwilling to work in the formal sector if they will still be paid the lower market-clearing wage (i.e. as long as $w^f < y^i$). This means that per-worker informal sector income plays the same role as a formal sector reservation wage⁵ (w^{res}) and that, for $w^f > w^{res} = y^i$, formal sector firms are confronted with an unlimited supply of labour from the informal sector.

5 The lowest wage rate at which a worker would be willing to accept a formal sector job.

¹ Purchasing power parity. Employment data are taken from ILO and WIEGO (2012), poverty data from World Bank (2014).

² The model does not include the unobserved shadow economy, which is also part of the modern sector. This omission, however, does not compromise the presented theoretical or empirical results.

³ The amount of fixed or real capital present in relation to other factors of production, especially labour.

⁴ The price by which the supply of whatever is traded equates to the demand, so that there is no leftover supply or demand.

Equations 2 and 3 demonstrate that in such settings, labour demand from formal firms determines formal sector equilibrium employment. In other words, the growth of employment in the formal sector is driven by the sector's capital-stock growth and that investment is capital widening.⁶

(2)
$$L^{f} = L^{D} = A^{f} K^{f} \left[\frac{(1-\alpha)}{w^{f}} \right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}$$

$$(3) \quad gL^f = gA^f - \frac{1}{\alpha}gw^f + gK^f$$

The two equations illustrate why private investment creates decent jobs in developing countries. As long as a poverty-stricken informal sector exists in these countries, the formal sector wage is determined by external forces and the formal sector labour market fails to clear. This implies the absence of diminishing returns to capital and labour, employment growth within the formal sector that is driven from within and the additionality of foreign private investment, which fuels the growth of the formal sector capital stock and translates into an equally large growth in formal sector employment.

Estimating the effect of private investment on the creation of better paid (decent?) jobs

Equation 3 has been tested using panel data from 73 low- and middle-income countries from 1990 to 2011. For these countries, the data were taken directly from, or constructed from, publicly available databases. The robust regressions show that the size and the signs of the coefficients of the formal sector capital stock growth rate are as suggested by equation 3. The regression results further suggest that formal sector capital stock growth translates one-to-one into formal sector job growth (the estimated coefficient is one), which, as the estimates imply, is slowed by the externally driven growth of the formal sector wage rate.⁷ These results allow for country- and time-specific estimations of the attributable and long-lasting impact of formal sector investment on formal sector employment by enabling workers to shift from badly paid informal jobs to better-paid jobs in the formal sector.

The proposed model in action

As an example, the job effects of investing \$310 million in Bangladesh and in Brazil in 2008 or in 2016 are shown in Figure 3. Four steps are needed to measure these effects.

Step 1: Use the regression results to calculate the country- and time-specific fitted annual changes in formal employment growth, and inspect differences between observed (DgLf2_obs) and fitted changes (DgLf2_fit), as shown in Figure 2.

Step 2: Take the observed formal sector employment of a start year, apply annual employment growth rates that are derived from fitted changes of the employment growth rates and calculate the formal sector employment for each year. The country-specific level of formal sector employment, calculated for 2008 and

Figure 2 Bangladesh – annual change in modern sector employment growth



6 This is where the stock of capital is increasing at the same rate as the labour force, and the capital per worker ratio remains constant.

7 Details about the estimation approaches and results can be found in Loewenstein and Bender (2017).
2016, results from the factual capital stock size of the respective years. It includes the invested \$10 million.

Step 3: Subtract the \$10 million from the country-specific capital stock of 2008 and of 2016, respectively, to get the counterfactual sizes, growth rates and changes in the growth rates of the capital stock and of formal sector employment for each of the two years.

Step 4: For both years, calculate the creation of formal sector jobs by development finance institutions subtracting the counterfactual formal sector employment (step 3) from the factual formal sector employment (step 2).

Result: We find that an investment of \$10 million would have created 564 additional

Figure 3 Additional modern sector jobs in Bangladesh and Brazil created from investing \$10 million



*based on extrapolation.

formal sector jobs (DLf2, see Figure 3) in Bangladesh in 2008, while investing the same amount in 2016 would have created 350 new jobs there. Following the above described procedure for Brazil shows that investing \$10 million in 2008 would have increased formal employment by 124 jobs, while the same investment in 2016 would have created 183 jobs in that country.

The counts differ between countries and within time as they mirror differences in the countries' production structures as well as in the dynamics of growth. Investing \$10 million in Bangladesh creates many more modern jobs than investing the same in Brazil, as the capital intensity in the latter is twice that of the former. However, between 2008 and 2016, growth in Bangladesh was quite dynamic as compared to Brazil, where the fast growth of the modern sector wage was a burden for job creation. This explains why the job effects of investing \$10 million in Bangladesh are lower in 2016 in comparison to 2008 and why the opposite holds for Brazil.

Conclusion

The proposed growth model for developing countries suggests that private investment creates new and additional jobs that absorb badly paid informal workers who want better-paid employment in the formal sector. Empirical evidence supports this suggestion and allows for the quantification of country- and time-specific employment impact of private investment at an aggregate level. As theory and evidence suggest the absence of diminishing returns in developing countries, future research on modified inputoutput approaches may be fruitful to investigate such job effects at the sectoral level.

References

- ILO International Labour Organization and WIEGO Women in Informal Employment:
- Globalizing and Organizing (2012) 'Women and men in the informal economy a statistical picture' (electronic dataset). Geneva: International Labour Organization and Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---stat/ documents/publication/wcms_234413.pdf)
- Krugman, P. (1993) 'What do undergraduates need to know about trade?' American Economic Review 3: 23-26
- Loewenstein, W. and Bender, D. (2017) 'Labour market failure, capital accumulation, growth and poverty dynamics in partially informalised economies: why developing countries' growth patterns are different'. Bochum: Ruhr-Universität (https://ssrn.com/abstract=3022146)
- Mussa, M. (1993) 'Making the practical case for freer trade' American Economic Review 83: 372-376
- Solow, R. M. (1956) 'A contribution to the theory of economic growth' *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 1: 65–94
- World Bank (2014) 'World Development Indicators' (electronic dataset). Washington DC: World Bank (https://datacatalog.worldbank.org/dataset/world-development-indicators)

Part 2 DFIs and climate change: transformation and access to clean energy

5 Understanding the impact of development finance institutions in catalysing private investment to tackle climate change and increase access to energy

Samantha Attridge, Overseas Development Institute, and Matthew Gouett, independent research consultant

Abstract

Development finance institutions (DFIs) have an important role to play in helping countries catalyse the private investment required to meet the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs); specifically, SDG 7 on access to energy and SDG 13 on climate action. To better inform stakeholders of the contribution and effectiveness of their work, DFIs must provide meaningful metrics that allow comparison among DFIs and among their investment opportunities.

Introduction

Lack of access to reliable energy supply is a major constraint to economic growth and development in many low- and middle-income countries. It is not surprising, therefore, that the energy sector is the second largest investment sector in the combined investment portfolio of members of the Association of European Development Finance Institutions (EDFI), with the bulk of investment going to renewable energy and efficiency projects.

In 2017, EDFI members invested €2 billion in the energy sector and the combined EDFI investment portfolio for the sector totalled €8.2 billion by the end of the year. At the same time, energy production and consumption are major contributors to climate change. This essay focuses on how DFIs strike the appropriate balance between energy production and climate action, how they account for their impacts, and the role of DFIs and researchers in strengthening the existing evidence base on DFI effectiveness.

The contribution of DFIs to the global goals on energy access and climate action

Most DFIs have made policy pledges and created investment targets to support increased access to affordable and reliable clean energy (SDG 7) and the implementation of the Paris Agreement under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Norfund, for example, believes a lack of access to reliable electricity is a large constraint for business development in poor countries and is targeting 50% of its allocated capital to renewable energy investments (Norfund, 2016).

In addition, to increase the supply of wellprepared, 'bankable' renewable energy projects available to investors, Norfund has established a project development facility to bolster the support available to early-stage renewable energy project development. For its part, CDC Group has committed a new Resource Efficiency Facility that aims to decouple economic growth from excessive natural resource consumption (CDC Group, 2018). This investment mechanism, which focuses solely on improving energy efficiency, is unique among DFI offerings.

Investments to help combat climate change in support of SDG 13 and the UNFCCC Paris Agreement have been equally popular among DFIs. The focus of their commitments is two-fold: to invest in climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies, and to catalyse other investment in climate change mitigation and adaptation.

Proparco announced that it would earmark €2 billion from 2017 to 2020 for investment in projects that contribute to the fight against climate change as part of its Objective 2020 (Proparco, 2017). Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (FMO) has positioned SDG 13 as one of three SDGs guiding its strategy and has committed to doubling the expected amount of avoided greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions per annum by 2020 (FMO, 2017). While other DFIs capture these GHG data, FMO is unique in setting a hard target. In addition, FMO has committed to 'greening' its portfolio by targeting 30% of new investments to green investments as part of its investment strategy.

To catalyse investment in mitigation and adaptation strategies, DFIs are pursuing new and diverse strategies. In 2015, FMO announced it would be a seed investor in Climate Investor One, an innovative mechanism to finance renewable energy projects at specific stages of the project lifecycle (FMO, 2015). Other examples include Finnfund's (2018) commitment to develop new instruments and structures to channel private and institutional investments to climate change projects and Proparco's (2017) support for the mobilisation of private sector funds by creating renewable-energy equity investment vehicles and developing syndication capacity.

Measuring DFI impact

The metrics for DFI impact on SDG 7 and SDG 13 are centred on the number of gigawatt hours (GWh) produced and the GHG avoided as a result of investments. While DFIs report on how they are improving energy infrastructures in developing countries, not all report the split between renewable and non-renewable energy generated. There is also little mention of how people in these countries can access this energy. Some DFIs with investments in distributed generation do, however, report on the number of clients provided with solar home systems. A handful of DFIs publicly release their estimates of the number of people affected by their energy investments, but these estimates have been challenged whenever they have been scrutinised (Slob et al., 2017).

In terms of their impact on climate change, most EDFI members report the amount of GHG avoided via an individual investment based on methodologies adapted from international best practices, such as the Carbon Footprint Tool created by Agence Française de Développement (AFD) or the Global Greenhouse Protocol. However, the measurement is not standardised across DFIs and transparency in the actual calculation is often lacking, which hinders comparability.

There are also divergent views on whether the calculation of emissions impact should be based on the GHG avoided by an investment; whether an investor should net its GHG-avoided calculation against the GHG its investments created; or whether simply calculating the total carbon footprint of a portfolio is the most transparent way forward. While it may be attractive to call for harmonised reporting, harmonisation may come with unintended consequences. DFIs may, for example, be drawn to investments that address climate change mitigation because it will report well on GHG metrics, but these same investments may undermine climate change adaptation efforts. Or, in the case of smaller investors, harmonisation may lead them to invest in projects that are well-established and easy to report on to attain these incentivised metrics and keep reporting costs manageable. Portfolio-level metrics, on the other hand, allow for greater project-level experimentation, enhancing the likelihood of financial or development additionality as an outcome. The unresolved challenge, however, is how to attribute this additionality when there are multiple investors.

Strengthening the evidence base

Understanding the impacts of DFI investments on access to energy and climate action requires nuance, as well as more consideration of the metrics that are meaningful to different audiences. The literature agrees that there is a positive relationship between access to electricity, job creation and economic growth, and it is easy to calculate how a DFI investment increases the electricity generated. However, data are sorely lacking on who has access to this installed capacity and the distributional impacts of the investment.

For DFIs, which are coming under ever-greater scrutiny, it is important to provide the data necessary for a better understanding of their impact. Reporting on the contribution of renewable-energy investments to total GWh produced, the number of clients reached via access to energy investments, the investment impact on the reduction of energy intensity, and the catalytic effects of climate finance initiatives are just a few areas where improved data would enable DFIs to better tell their stories. In addition, an agreement among DFIs on how to account for GHG emissions, perhaps at both the project and portfolio levels, would provide greater comparability for external audiences.

Even with the current data, there are still significant opportunities for researchers to better understand the contributions of DFI investments to energy access and climate action. For example, identifying the varied impact of universal access to electricity across and within countries could provide insight for DFIs on where their investments would have the most impact. This is linked to the need to discern which types of investment, whether in energy generation, transmission, distribution or efficiency, are best suited for DFIs and where financial and value additionality are embedded in these different types of investments.

Conclusions

Access to energy and its impact on climate change present a crucial tension within the SDGs. DFIs should be lauded for the resources that they have dedicated to these issues so far, but this trend must continue. DFIs can strengthen their contribution to the achievement of these SDGs by developing greater reporting capacity and working with researchers to ensure that external stakeholders gain a deeper awareness of their efforts and impacts.

References

- CDC Group (2018) Forward with purpose: CDC Group Plc annual review 2017. London: CDC Group (https://assets.cdcgroup.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/25092745/Annual-Review-2017.pdf) Finantual (2018) Finantual strategy 2018, 2025. Helsinki: Finantual (www.fanfund.flwm.content/
- Finnfund (2018) *Finnfund strategy 2018–2025*. Helsinki: Finnfund (www.finnfund.fi/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Finnfund-strategy-2018-2025.pdf)
- FMO Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (2015) 'News launch of innovative climate fund Climate Investor One'. The Hague: Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden, 2 December 2015 (www.fmo.nl/news-detail/ cc565170-697a-48d1-8475-1598251d0b2b/launch-of-innovative-climate-fund-climate-investor-one)
- FMO (2017) 2016 annual report. The Hague: Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (www.fmo.nl/about-us/reports)
- Norfund (2016) *Norfund's strategy* 2016 2020. Oslo: Norfund (www.norfund.no/getfile.php/ 131726-1476449669/Dokumenter/Norfund%20strategy%202016-2020%20ENG%20%28ID%20 161654%29.pdf)
- Proparco (2017) Objective 2020. Paris: Proparco (www.proparco.fr/sites/proparco/files/2018-04-04-42-02/DP_Strategy_Proparco_2017-2020-EN.pdf)
- Slob, A., van Aalst, P., Vermeulen, J., Veenstra, E. and van der Haar, S. (2017) Evaluation FMO Access to Energy Fund. The Hague: Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (www.fmo.nl/l/library/download/urn:uuid:c2e9f418-219c-4e1c-9e40-8b2d82719a86/ final+report+evaluation+aef_24+mar2017.pdf)

6 Energy transition and the Paris Agreement

Pierre Forestier, Proparco

Abstract

The private sector has a key role to play in the transformation of economies to low-carbon pathways as the Paris Agreement creates a renewed context for the climate action of development finance institutions (DFIs). A paradigm shift in development models is now needed to support the private sector and the countries that are making the transition to a low-carbon future. A fundamental evolution of approaches to climate issues is required and new climate and development strategies should be adopted as proposed by the Agence Française de Développement (AFD) Group.

Introduction

The private sector has wielded major influence on countries' development trajectories over the years and is now part of development aid policy. While private and corporate investments were once seen mainly in terms of their benefits for economic growth and employment, their impacts on the quality of life, the environment and social cohesion have been highlighted in recent years through increasingly popular corporate social responsibility and social and environmental responsibility approaches.

With the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the Paris Agreement, the transformation of our modes of production, consumption – even our way of life – has now become necessary and necessitates a universal transition towards more sustainable and equitable models. The requisite new investments (particularly in infrastructure stocks and organisations that can drive rapid change) present the private sector with an essential role. This transition also requires international aid to renew its mandate to incorporate the role of the private sector. International aid needs to look beyond protection and support for the most vulnerable people in order to redirect and regulate investments, particularly those from the private sector, so that these investments support the complete transformation that is needed.

The mission of members of the Association of European Development Finance Institutions (EDFI) is to promote, through financing that is private sector oriented, transitions towards sustainable, balanced, inclusive and carbon-free growth models in developing and emerging economies. Over the past few years, the 15 EDFI members, whose consolidated portfolio amounted to €38.1 billion in 2016, have greatly increased their investments in climate projects. Their aggregated climate finance totalled €8.7 billion between 2009 and 2016 (EDFI, 2017). Numerous renewable power plants across Africa, Asia and Latin America would not exist without funding from European DFIs.

The paradigm shift induced by the Paris Agreement

The Paris Agreement is the catalyst for a renewed context for the climate action of DFIs. Beyond the collective recognition of its objectives and the recognition that a paradigm shift in development models is necessary, the Agreement entails concrete ownership processes at country level. These are embodied by the publication of Nationally Determined Contributions and the formulation by 2020 of long-term low greenhouse gas (GHG) emission development strategies. It also entails strong and renewed expectations of development financiers, with finance flows targeted towards low GHG emissions and climate-resilient development, to fund public policies and strategies.

The AFD and its subsidiary, Proparco, were among the first international donors to integrate the fight against climate change into their practices. The notion of global public goods was introduced in the first Climate Strategy of the AFD Group in 2005 and has been strengthened in every subsequent strategy; particularly in 2012 with the adoption of an ambitious target: that 50% of annual commitments would support projects with climate co-benefits.¹

This approach is based both on the principle that the fight against climate change is inextricably linked to the trajectory and development policies of countries and to the involvement of economic, institutional and civil society actors.

The ambitious objectives of the AFD Group

The Climate and Development Strategy for 2017–2022 further strengthens the action and positioning of the AFD Group on climate change. Three strategic priorities have been identified:

- ensuring that the Group's activities are consistent with the Paris Agreement in supporting low-carbon and climate-resilient development and related public policies
- 2. maximising the impact of the Group's related actions, particularly in terms of leverage effects, and
- 3. strengthening AFD's role as a platform for France's international financial commitment to climate and its positioning as a reference on climate and development among international financial institutions (IFIs).

The Climate and Development Strategy for 2017–2022, therefore, proposes four major commitments:

1. ensure that activities are 100% compatible with the Paris Agreement

- 2. increase the volume of climate finance
- 3. contribute to the redirection of finance and investment flows, and
- 4. co-build solutions and bring influence to bear on standards.

The first commitment entails a fundamental evolution of the AFD Group's approach to climate issues. It means shifting from an approach based mainly on assessment of the benefits of projects with direct climate co-benefits and selection criteria for highly emissive projects, towards an approach that seeks and characterises interventions that are consistent with low-carbon and climate-resilient development pathways.

In line with this Climate and Development Strategy, Proparco is committed to ensuring that all of its financing contributes to low-carbon and resilient development. A systematic analysis of the coherence of its financing and investments with the Paris Agreement has been implemented, examining GHG emission trajectories and vulnerability to climate change effects. This riskbased approach focuses on operations that are under appraisal and that have an anticipated high level of inconsistency because of a high intrinsic level of GHG emissions from the investment; a high vulnerability to the effects of climate change; or a direct or induced structural effect of the project on the economy.

The AFD Group has allocated a total of €33.8 billion to finance projects with climate cobenefits since 2005. The objective of allocating 50% of annual commitments to the financing of such projects will lead to a yearly deployment of more than €5 billion of climate finance in 2020. Within this objective, the Group will aim to substantially increase its financing for adaptation in every region, but with a particular goal of increasing financing in Africa, least developed countries (LDCs), and small-island states, to more than €1.5 billion per year by 2020.

In 2018, the AFD Group committed €3 billion to climate change mitigation. This finance aims to contribute to the avoidance of 10.5 metric tonnes

¹ A project presents climate co-benefits when it meets one or more of the three following criteria: (1) the emission reductions it generates are greater than the emissions it generates over its lifetime; (2) the project reduces the vulnerability of assets, people and ecosystems to the consequences of climate change; and (3) the project supports the implementation of climate policies/strategies at the national level.

of carbon dioxide (MtCO₂) per year in emissions over the lifetime of the projects. Proparco's own commitments reached \in 521 million in 2018, aiming to contribute to the avoidance of 1.5 MtCO₂/year.²

To redirect finance and investment flows, the AFD Group needs to diversify both its instruments and its action, renew its doctrine on the use of blending instruments and on the assessment of 'climate' risks. At the project level, the AFD Group aims to maximise the leverage effect of its financing in order to redirect private investment. It will also enrich its practice of mixing national and international climate finance with its own financial instruments. The AFD Group will continue to integrate systemic financial risks related to climate change (spanning both physical and transition risks) into its risk-analysis processes. Finally, the AFD Group will act not only through its operations, but will also bring its influence to bear on standards to spur innovation as well as jointly build and capitalise on experience. The Group aims to have a lasting impact on practices through intensified action and engagement with coalitions of finance, institutional, economic and research actors.

Conclusion

Climate action is needed as a matter of grave urgency and requires the broadest possible mobilisation. Alongside the SDGs, climate change issues are at the heart of the awareness-raising actions that DFIs, including the AFD Group, will develop and support in the years to come.

References

EDFI – Association of European Development Finance Institutions (2017) *Investing for a greener future*. Brussels: Association of European Development Finance Institutions (www.edfi.eu/wp/wp-content/ uploads/2017/12/EDFI-Climate-Brochure-2017-FINAL.pdf)

World Bank (2015) 'International Financial Institution Framework for a Harmonised Approach to Greenhouse Gas Accounting'. Washington DC: World Bank Group (www.worldbank.org/content/ dam/Worldbank/document/IFI_Framework_for_Harmonized_Approach%20to_Greenhouse_Gas_ Accounting.pdf)

² AFD calculates its emissions using an internal tool and methodologies that are compatible with the harmonised approach of the International Financial Institution Framework for a Harmonized Approach to Greenhouse Gas Accounting (World Bank, 2015).

7 A crucial role for development finance institutions in energy projects across sub-Saharan Africa

Karoline Teien Blystad, Norfund

Abstract

Sub-Saharan Africa is in urgent need of more energy supply. Investments in the sector are far below requirements and private sector investment is vital. In fact, independent power projects (IPPs) are one of the fastest growing sources of energy investments in the region. But risk mitigation is essential in markets where the off-taker lacks investment-grade rating. Data on IPPs in sub-Saharan Africa (1990–2014) show that development finance institution (DFI) involvement is widespread and that such institutions play a key role in mitigating risk and bringing private financiers into IPPs.

Introduction

If the world is to meet the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by 2030, the underdeveloped energy sector in sub-Saharan Africa needs significant investment. It is estimated that more than 345 gigawatts (GW) of additional electricity generation capacity will be needed in the region – more than three times its current capacity. The public sector cannot fill this vast gap alone. More governments, therefore, are welcoming to private sector investments, but many private investors see such investments as too risky.

The energy gap holds back economic growth

The energy sector in sub-Saharan Africa remains under-developed in terms of energy access, installed capacity and overall consumption. In 2017, the 48 countries of the region, with a combined population of more than 1.1 billion people, had less installed generating capacity (103 GW) than Spain (106 GW), a country with a population of just 47 million people (EIA, 2019). What's more, electricity generation capacity in sub-Saharan Africa has stagnated over the past three decades and economic growth rates in the region are barely half of those seen in other developing regions (Eberhard et al., 2008).

This energy shortage is holding back the region's economic growth and job creation: 79% of businesses in sub-Saharan Africa experience electrical outages and 53% depend on generators for their electricity needs. Using generators is expensive as the cost of energy generated this way is three to six times the typical price paid by grid consumers. This 'makes many Africabased industries and manufacturing sectors uncompetitive, slows job growth, and drags down annual gross domestic product (GDP) growth between one to three percentage points' (Castellano et al., 2015: 1). Lack of access to energy is cited as a major constraint to operations by 40% of businesses (World Bank, 2019).

The energy sector needs substantial investment

The need for major investments in energy generation capacity is obvious, especially in the face of strong economic growth in the region, which has driven rising demand for electricity over the past decade (Eberhard et al., 2016). It is estimated that the level of demand for electricity in sub-Saharan Africa needs to increase to 1,600 terawatt hours (TWh) by 2040 (equivalent to 345 GW of electricity capacity). In all, 292 GW of new capacity will be needed over the next 25 years – in addition to the capacity already under construction. This means that more than \$490 billion must be invested in additional energy generation capacity by 2040 (Castellano et al., 2015).

Existing investment levels are far below what is required. Approximately \$45.6 billion was invested in electricity generation in sub-Saharan Africa between 1990 and 2013. When we exclude South Africa, this total drops to \$31.3 billion (Eberhard et al., 2016).

Historically, public utilities have been the major sources of investment in energy generation, but this is now changing. Most African governments are unable to fund their energy needs in full, and few utilities have investmentgrade ratings and are unable to raise sufficient funding at affordable rates (Eberhard and Gratwick, 2013). Inevitably, the large funding gap cannot be closed by the public sector alone and increasing private investment is critical.

IPPs are crucial to increase energy supply

Globally, most private sector financing of energy projects is channelled through IPPs. These are energy projects that tend to be privately developed, constructed, operated and owned, and that have a long-term power purchase agreement (PPA) with a utility or other off-taker. Few African countries have investment-grade ratings, however, which limits the possibilities of traditional project-financed IPP deals and makes financing particularly challenging.

This is the context in which development finance institutions (DFIs) that invest in the private sector (e.g. the International Finance Corporation (IFC), the Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (FMO), Proparco and the Norwegian Investment Fund for Developing Countries (Norfund)) have played a significant and additional role in funding IPPs.

Investment in IPPs in sub-Saharan Africa is one of the fastest growing sources of energy investment in the region and virtually tripled between 2006 and 2013. IPPs represent more than \$11.12 billion in investments and 6.8 GW of installed capacity. Adding South Africa's 92 renewable energy IPPs brings their number to 151 projects, totalling more than \$30 billion in investment and more than 12 GW in installed capacity (Eberhard et al., 2017). That equals 17% of the total energy capacity growth in the region seen from 1994 to 2014. Many of these IPPs have some form of DFI involvement.

The role of DFIs as funders and risk mitigators for IPPs

One key concern for investors is the security of revenue flows and, therefore, the financial viability of the off-taker (usually the stateowned utility). Many African utilities have poor credit ratings and require significant de-risking to attract private equity and debt-providers (Eberhard et al., 2016). DFIs play several roles in funding and mitigating risks related to IPPs.

DFIs invest directly in IPPs and help bring to a financial close projects that would not otherwise have been viable given the lack of investment-grade ratings in their countries (Eberhard et al., 2017). Of the 144 IPPs that reached financial close in sub-Saharan Africa between 1990 and 2014, 88 (61%)

Figure 4 Distribution of IPPs in sub-Saharan Africa



*excluding IPPs where the DFIs are involved. Source: authors' calculations based on Eberhard et al. (2017). had some form of DFI investment or guarantee. IPPs related to the donor-supported scheme in Uganda, Get FiT, and the renewable-energy procurement programme in South Africa, REIPPPP, account for 22% of the IPPs, while the sugar and oil industries account for 6% (see Figure 4). Excluding investment-grade countries (Botswana, Mauritius and South Africa), DFIs have been involved in 72% of all IPPs in sub-Saharan Africa.

One key barrier to the wider deployment and diffusion of clean and renewable energy in developing countries is the inadequate supply of well-prepared, 'bankable' projects that are available to investors. Some DFIs, such as Norfund, have therefore established a project development facility to increase the support available to early-stage renewable-energy project development. To date, 15 early-stage projects have received funding, with 6 becoming commercial energy projects so far. Several other projects are still under development. DFIs appear to 'crowd-in' private investments through their ability to place pressure on the host government to honour contracts, as well as offering risk-mitigation products such as guarantees and insurance. As a result, we have seen very few IPPs that have actually unravelled and have observed a renegotiation of contracts (after the PPA was signed) in only 8 of the 27 IPPs in Kenya, Nigeria, Tanzania and Uganda (Eberhard et al., 2017).

Conclusion

It is clear that DFIs have played a significant role for most IPPs in sub-Saharan Africa, either through the use of risk-mitigation products or, primarily, through actual investment in these projects (Eberhard et al., 2017). The challenge ahead is for the countries of the region to create the conditions needed to attract more and better IPPs, and for DFIs to scale up their clean-energy investments.

References

- Castellano, A., Kendall, A., Nikomarov, M. and Swemmer, T. (2015) *Brighter Africa*. New York: McKinsey & Company (www.africanbusinesscentral.com/2015/05/03/ brighter-africa-the-growth-potential-of-sub-saharan-africas-electricity-sector-mckinsey-report/)
- Eberhard, A. and Gratwick, K. (2013) 'Investment power in Africa: where from and where to?' *Georgetown Journal of International Affairs* 14(1): 39–46
- Eberhard, A., Foster, V., Briceño-Garmendia, C., Oudraogo, F., Camos, D. and Shkaratan, M. (2008) Underpowered: the state of the power sector in sub-Saharan Africa. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/7833)
- Eberhard, A., Gratwick, K., Morella, E. and Antmann, P. (2016) Independent power projects
- *in sub-Saharan Africa: lessons from five key countries.* Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/23970/9781464808005. pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y)
- Eberhard, A., Gratwick, K., Morella, E. and Antmann, P. (2017) 'Independent power projects in sub-Saharan Africa: investment trends and policy lessons' *Energy Policy* 108: 390–424
- EIA United States Energy Information Administration (2019) Dataset on installed capacity. Washington DC: United States Energy Information Administration (www.eia.gov/beta/international/ data/browser/)
- World Bank (2019) 'Enterprise survey' (electronic dataset). Washington DC: World Bank (www.enterprisesurveys.org/data/exploretopics/infrastructure#--7)

8 Theories of change and the impacts of renewable energy investments

Juho Uusihakala, Finnfund, and Teodora Nenova and Rene Kim, Steward Redqueen

Abstract

Finnfund has developed theories of change (ToC) for its priority investment sectors. ToC are useful tools for the analysis and illustration of the direct, indirect and wider impacts of Finnfund's investments. Studies by Steward Redqueen highlight the importance of Finnfund's investments in renewable energy in Cape Verde and Honduras in reducing the average cost of electricity generation and power outages. However, they also show that the impact of additional energy capacity in an economy is limited if the price of electricity is not cost reflective. The results of the studies inform and confirm Finnfund's ToC, which underpins its renewable energy investments and enables Finnfund to report the indirect and wider impacts of its investment to its stakeholders. More importantly, the studies bring strategic insights into how Finnfund – and other development finance institutions (DFIs) – can maximise the impact of their investments.

Introduction

ToC or impact pathways are increasingly used as analytical tools and frameworks to capture changes in development. A ToC is, in essence, a causality analysis based on a thorough analysis of existing evidence (research), expert knowledge and interviews. While ToCs tend to be used in development aid contexts where interventions are planned by the financiers, they are also useful for DFIs as analytical frameworks to illustrate how their investment into a company is expected to contribute to development.¹

Finnfund has developed generic ToCs for its main investment sectors: renewable

energy, sustainable forestry, agriculture, and financial institutions. These are basically 3 x 3 frameworks² with three spheres of influence: economic, social and environmental, and three levels of impact: direct, indirect and wider.

Because the ToCs are generic, they do not include assumptions (described as conditions that are needed for an impact to materialise). These assumptions can, however, be drawn from commercial and environmental and social-risk assessments. Finnfund's ToCs are outlined in its latest *Impact report* (Finnfund, 2019).

ToCs can and should be used to inform the kind of monitoring data that are requested from DFI clients. These include indicators on

¹ There are several useful sources for ToC. See:

www.betterevaluation.org/en/rainbow_framework/define/develop_programme_theory www.theoryofchange.org/what-is-theory-of-change/ www.poverty-action.org/publication/goldilocks-toolkit-theory-change

https://undg.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/UNDG-UNDAF-Companion-Pieces-7-Theory-of-Change.pdf

² With the exception of financial institutions.

the level (quantity) of direct economic, social or environmental results. This is information that DFI clients can readily and credibly report themselves - production, number of jobs, infrastructure developed, taxes paid, hectares planted and more.

The interesting question is, however, whether these direct results (or outputs) have led to the anticipated indirect and wider impacts. As these are questions the companies themselves cannot answer, Finnfund collaborated with Steward Redqueen to investigate the indirect and wider employment and economic impacts of Finnfund's investments in renewable energy in Cape Verde and in Honduras.

Methodological approach

There is a large body of academic literature on the relationship between energy or electricity consumption and economic growth. Findings tend to depend on the country, the analysis methodology, selected variables and the period under consideration. Not surprisingly, no consensus has been reached. In fact, four possible relationships between electricity consumption (EC) and gross domestic product (GDP) have been found.

- 1. Growth hypothesis: electricity consumption causes GDP growth (EC \Rightarrow GDP).
- 2. Conservation hypothesis: GDP growth causes electricity consumption (GDP \Rightarrow EC).
- 3. Feedback hypothesis: electricity consumption and GDP growth cause each other (EC \Leftrightarrow GDP).
- 4. Neutrality hypothesis: electricity consumption and GDP growth have no correlation (EC ♯ GDP).

To improve our understanding of how investments in power create employment, Steward Redqueen used a framework of two pathways that impact the energy situation and economy:

- 1. decreasing the price of electricity (Figure 5)
- 2. reducing the duration of electricity outages (Figure 6).³

Lower prices and fewer power outages enable companies to increase their electricity use and, as a result, produce more. Higher production levels mean higher demand for goods and services used in production processes. This benefits local



Note: GTAP, Global Trade Analysis Project; ILO, International Labour Organization. Source: Steward Redqueen (2018a).

The framework used in this study follows the one developed and tested by Steward Redqueen during their previous 3 studies in the Philippines and Turkey (International Finance Corporation), Uganda and Cameroon (CDC Group), India and Uruguay (Proparco) and Senegal (Private Infrastructure Development Group).

Figure 5 Price pathway

Figure 6 Outage pathway



Note: WBES, World Bank enterprise survey. Source: Steward Redqueen (2018b).

suppliers and results in more economic activity, which brings employment opportunities, salaries, tax payments and profits, leading to higher levels of GDP.

It should be noted that the dominant pathway varies between countries: the price pathway is of particular relevance for countries where new capacity (in part) replaces existing expensive thermal generation, while the outage pathway is vital in countries with low reserve margins, where insufficient capacity causes blackouts. In countries where power prices are not costreflective, i.e. they do not reflect the true cost of the power being generated, additional capacity would not change the price of electricity.

To derive the results for Cape Verde and Honduras, Steward Redqueen analysed power supply and demand and constructed a counterfactual of what would have happened had new generation capacity not been commissioned. This made it possible to calculate changes in electricity price relative to a hypothetical case in which Finnfundinvested projects were not realised. The impact of additional capacity on outages and firms' production times was determined to see if and how changes in production affect employment and income generation.

Key results and conclusions

The analysis found that Finnfund's investments have reduced the average generation cost of electricity by 8% in Cape Verde and by 5% in Honduras. This has benefited, in particular, national utilities that have made savings of over €10 million and €20 million respectively as they no longer have to purchase expensive and polluting diesel. As a result of reduced outages, companies' operation time – and consequently their output – increased. It is estimated that Finnfund's power investments increased GDP in both countries by about 0.2% (Table 1).

Conclusion

These studies, along with others conducted by Steward Redqueen in the energy sector, show that the impacts from investments in power vary according to the characteristics of the local energy sector. Organisations that are considering an investment in (renewable) energy should recognise the importance of the following issues for the economic impact of their investments.

• Low reserve margins imply that the power sector is more prone to blackouts and,

therefore, additional energy supply leads to reduced outages, higher production and more jobs.

- A high dependence on fossil fuels to generate energy leads to the displacement of expensive thermal generation and the avoidance of carbon emissions.
- The effect of displacing thermal on the overall generation cost will depend on the difference between the cost of fuel and renewables. When fuel prices are high, investing in cheaper renewable capacity will have a high impact on the generation cost.
- The effect of lower generation costs depends on whether tariffs are cost-reflective. If they

are not, as was the case in Cape Verde and Honduras, a lower generation cost moves the energy situation closer to a cost-reflective price, reducing the need for government support and driving the sector nearer to a market-based model. If tariffs are costreflective, a lower generation cost leads to lower end-user tariffs, higher electricity consumption, more production and more jobs.

Finnfund wants to invest in renewable energy that is cheaper, cleaner and that increases the reliability of electricity distribution. The studies in Cape Verde and Honduras prove that all three of these objectives can be reached.

Effects on power sector	Honduras	Cape Verde
Installed energy supply in-country	2,450 MW	162 MW
Average effective capacity factor in-country ¹	45%	40%
Installed supply of Finnfund-invested plants	104 MW	25.5 MW
Average effective capacity factor of Finnfund-invested plants	40%	35%
Finnfund-invested plants' share of effective supply	4%	14%
Effects on price		
Generation costs reduction	-4.7%	-7.7%
Value of displaced fuel imports	€20 m	€11 m
Total CO ₂ emissions avoided	285 kt	59 kt
Effects on outage		
Δ Operations time	0.5%	0.8%
∆ Firm output	€70 m	€5.4 m
Δ Value added supported (annual)	€37 m	€3 m
% of GDP	0.21%	0.24%
Δ Jobs supported (one-off)	5,750	535
% of labour force	0.17%	0.22%

Table 1 Key results from the studies in Honduras and Cape Verde

¹ Capacity adjusted for utilisation rate.

Note: MW=megawatt; m=millions; kt=kilotonne.

Source: Steward Redqueen (2018a and 2018b).

References

Finnfund (2019) *Impact report 2017*. Helsinki: Finnfund (https://annualreport.finnfund.fi/2017/en) Steward Redqueen (2018a) *The impact of power investments in Honduras*. Helsinki: Finnfund

(www.finnfund.fi/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/The-Impact-of-Power-Investments-in-Honduras_August-2018.pdf)

Steward Redqueen (2018b) *Power and jobs in Cape Verde* Helsinki: Finnfund (www.finnfund.fi/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Power-and-Jobs-in-Cape-Verde_September-2018.pdf)

Part 3 Frontier issues in understanding the impact of DFI and private investment

DFIs and economic transformation

9 Understanding the contribution of development finance institutions to economic transformation

Paddy Carter, CDC Group

Abstract

The eradication of poverty demands the transformation of unproductive economies into ones that are capable of sustaining a decent standard of living for every citizen. Development finance institutions (DFIs) can accelerate this process, but making the connections between individual investments and economic transformation is not easy. DFIs must find new ways to bridge this gap.

Introduction

CDC Group and other DFIs need to know the impacts of our investments for capital allocation and management decisions, and for accountability to our shareholders and the public. This essay looks at what DFIs can do in practice when investments are intended to have an impact at the macroeconomic level.

Beyond jobs

Most DFIs see job creation as the main measure of their development impact and it is easy to understand why: between now and 2030, Africa's working-age population, for example, is expected to grow by 40% to 1 billion (AfDB, 2019).

But DFIs also know that unproductive lowincome economies must transform themselves into high-productivity economies that are capable of supporting a good standard of living for all their citizens in a way that is sustainable. That will not happen by adding 'more of the same' jobs.

Economists use the term 'structural transformation' to refer to the movement of workers and capital out of unproductive activities, and into those that are more productive (see Duarte and Restuccia, 2010, for example). Historically, this has meant moving the workforce out of agriculture into manufacturing, and then into services. DFIs can contribute to economic transformation by making investments and creating jobs in higher-productivity activities, such as manufacturing. In this way, DFIs contribute to the process of 'creative destruction', so that the average productivity of firms in the economy will increase over time.

Replacing unproductive units with those that are more productive is certainly a contribution to economic transformation, but it is not transformational. Rather than transform economies one investment at a time, DFIs also aspire to make investments that create ripples of impact across the entire economy.

If we think of an economy as a production network, we could think of a non-transformative investment as affecting just one small part of it. For example, opening a new restaurant might create some new demand for its suppliers, but it might also put another restaurant out of business (and reduce demand for its suppliers).

At the other extreme, an investment that reduces transportation costs across the economy could cause the entire network to rearrange itself, with many firms entering and others exiting, and new connections to be made. The example of transportation hints at how investments can be transformative: if they produce intermediate goods that are used by many other firms in the economy.

The World Bank (2018) has defined a transformative investment as one that reduces the

costs of subsequent investments, but that could be interpreted more broadly as an investment that increases the returns of other investments. Jones (2011) has argued that the huge productivity gap between rich and poor economies can be explained by linkages and complementarities in production networks – or the lack of them. When investments are complementary – the productivity of one increases the productivity of the other – economies can be held back by the 'weakest link in the chain'. If DFIs' investments can fix these crucial weak links, we can contribute to economic transformation.

Reducing the price of intermediate goods and services is only one mechanism by which DFIs can hope to be transformational. Another important channel is the creation of knowledge and capacity-building (which can extend to regulatory reform and other policy interventions). DFIs place great value on pioneering investments that will have a 'demonstration effect' so others will follow in their footsteps. Much of the work of DFIs to incubate local capital markets could be seen as trying to fix a weak link in an economy.

How can we know which investments are transformative?

DFIs want to know what impact investments will have on economic transformation before they make them (*ex-ante*) and afterwards (*ex-post*). A few DFIs have developed investment assessment systems that attempt to assess transformative potential, but there is no space to describe those efforts here.¹

In general, measuring impact gets harder the further the outcome you want gets from the point of intervention. Trying to identify the impact of an investment on economic transformation is a challenge because there is so much going on at the same time across an economy, making it difficult to isolate the effect of a single investment. Innovations in evaluation, such as the use of satellite-generated luminosity data, have opened new avenues for the identification of transformative impact, but DFIs will not, as a rule, be able to measure the transformative impact of their investments directly, as outlined by BenYishay et al. (2018) in their blog on impact evaluation at the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). So, what should DFIs do and what should their external audiences look for?

A second-best approach would be to infer the transformative impact of investments by drawing on the universe of economics research, both theoretical and empirical. That means figuring out what sorts of investment have proven to be transformational in the past and then demonstrating that DFIs are making them. Such an approach would bring *ex-post* and *ex-ante* assessments together: both must be grounded in understanding of what outputs drive transformation.

Who benefits?

Returning to the idea of seeing the economy as a production network, we need to add another layer of information to this map – who are the workers and the customers of each node of the network. If we want economic transformation to create inclusive growth, we need it to affect nodes that employ or serve the poorest sections of society, even if those nodes are quite distant from the point of intervention.

This is the hardest question of all, and existing economics research is, at least based on my reading of it, of limited use. The ultimate impact of an investment will depend greatly on context and on the responses of other investors. There are hints and suggestions to be found in empirical research, but these are questions where DFIs may have to rely on guidance from theory.

The same methods that are currently used to estimate indirect job creation numbers can also be used to estimate who benefits from those jobs. Input-output (IO) tables can be augmented with information about the households employed in different sectors, to create what's called a 'social accounting matrix'. That is a useful first

¹ A longer version of this essay is available at www.edfi.eu/wp/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/EDFI-Impact-Conference-Session-note-on-Frontier-Methodologies-.pdf which describes the approaches taken by the International Finance Corporation (IFC), Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG) and the CDC Group.

step, but IO models hold a lot of economic relations constant, and do not capture channels that are likely to be more transformative (such as reducing the effective price of intermediate goods) or show how workers move between sectors as the economy develops.

Models that can do that are called Computable General Equilibrium (CGE) models. Even these, however, do not capture everything we might wish for, such as how investments may cause technological change. Some DFIs have invested in building CGE models of the economies in which they invest, but while these are useful for understanding the mechanisms via which investments may lead to development outcomes, it is hard to know how much faith to put in them, and they are of limited use for *ex-ante* capital allocation decisions. It is also unlikely that external audiences would place much weight in theoretical results when looking for evidence that DFIs have reduced poverty. One problem here is that positive spillover effects – so critical for economic transformation – are hard to distinguish from the discredited idea of 'trickle-down' economics.

Conclusion

This leaves DFIs with twin challenges. We need to find ways to trace the connections between our investments, economic transformation and inclusive growth so that we can make the right decisions about our capital allocation. And we also need to find ways to communicate those linkages to external audiences, who might not be convinced by a CGE model.

References

- AfDB African Development Bank (2019) *African economic outlook 2019*. Abidjan: African Development Bank (www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Publications/2019AEO/ AEO_2019-EN.pdf)
- BenYishay, B., Trichler, R., Runfola, D. and Goodman, S. (2018) 'A quiet revolution in impact evaluation at USAID'. Blog. Washington DC: Brookings (www.brookings.edu/blog/ future-development/2018/10/08/a-quiet-revolution-in-impact-evaluation-at-usaid/)
- Duarte, M. and Restuccia, D. (2010) 'The role of the structural transformation in aggregate productivity' *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 125(1): 129–173
- Jones, C. (2011) 'Intermediate goods and weak links in the theory of economic development' American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics 3(2):1–28
- World Bank (2018) Strategic use of climate finance to maximize climate action: a guiding framework.. Washington DC: World Bank Group (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/879251537779825585/Strategic-Use-of-Climate-Finance-to-Maximize-Climate-Action-A-Guiding-Framework)

10 A new focus for development finance institutions to enhance the role of economic transformation

Dirk Willem te Velde, Overseas Development Institute

Abstract

By some measures, development finance institutions (DFIs) already contribute to the process of economic transformation. However, they can do more, especially after their initial investment has been made. This essay argues for an enhanced role for DFIs in 'after-care' operations following the initial financial close to enhance not only the profitability of the investment, but also its impact on the wider society. This involves the use of new competencies around coordination with other investors and building partnerships and local linkages, as well as influencing public policies.

Introduction

A recent summary of evidence on the impact of DFIs (Attridge et al., 2019, and included in this essay series) finds that there is limited robust evidence of their impact. However, the 'high-quality' evidence that is cited includes studies that link the operation of DFIs to changes in productivity.

The magnitude of gross investments by DFIs is now so high that we should expect to find a macroeconomic impact if there are positive investment spillovers. And this is indeed the case.¹ Massa et al. (2016) present evidence (including regression analysis, case studies, and before/ after comparisons) which suggest that DFIs have had positive impacts on private sector gross fixed-capital formation (e.g. in the Uganda power sector). DFI officials who focus on individual investments sometimes underestimate or even ignore their impact on the wider economy, which is an oversight. We argue that DFIs can shape their own impact on the wider economy.

Selecting transformative investments is important ...

More can be done (*ex-ante*) to stimulate transformative investments. Much attention is focused on the selection of deals that have the greatest potential contribution to transformation. Lemma (2018) provides a good summary on the possible ways in which DFIs could examine (*ex-ante*) or assess (*ex-post*) whether they have contributed to economic transformation (defined as a long-term process of shifting resources from low-productivity to high-productivity activities, both within and between sectors).

Some sectors or activities are likely to have a greater transformative impact and if they respond more actively to private sector requests they will promote and enhance the impact on transformation. For example, a repeat loan to a bank that is under-utilised for onlending (perhaps because of information asymmetries) is likely to have a transformational impact that differs from investment in a relatively high-productive,

¹ Jouanjean and te Velde (2013) use panel data to evaluate DFI investments in 63 countries and find a statistically significant and positive relationship between DFI investments and labour productivity: an increase of 1% in DFI investments as a proportion of gross domestic product (GDP) can result in an increase of 3.4% in labour productivity. Massa et al. (2016) measured the individual impacts of DFI investments on three relevant metrics: economic growth, labour productivity and gross fixed capital formation (GFCF).

green-field manufacturing plant (although in practice context matters a lot).

... but DFIs have few profitable projects to choose from ...

DFIs sometimes push back against the argument that they should 'select' transformational projects. They would argue there are not enough profitable investment projects in the poorest countries and they have very few meaningful options to choose from. While DFIs could recruit more staff to work on labour-intensive tasks such as preparing deals in a sector and developing pipelines, and this may generate more deals, our work with Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden N.V (FMO) (Carnegie and FMO, 2014) has suggested that only some 120 investments a year made it to the Clearance in Principle (CIP) stage and more than 100 would proceed to actual commitments and investments. The real blockage is identifying investment projects that pass the investment code (including financial rates of return) of the DFI. Such micro-level observations are supported by portfolio-level accounts. Even when it could draw on additional shareholder capital, CDC Group was unable to raise its investment commitments between 2016–2018, suggesting that a lack of additional capital is not the only constraint to greater investments, at least in the short run. While it is important to increase the pipeline of possible projects through DFI activities and standard development policies, it is equally important - from a transformation perspective - to understand and maximise the impact of an investment once it has been made.

... so DFIs need to step up their thinking on how to collaborate to enhance the impact of an investment project during its life-cycle

The literature on FDI linkages and productivity spillovers is relevant to how DFI investments may spillover to the rest of the economy. While we cannot observe the precise channels of productivity spillovers from DFI investment to the rest of the economy, the literature identifies five pathways that signal *how* such spillovers might occur (te Velde, 2019).

- 1. The presence of superior knowledge inside a firm (firm-specific assets) supports greater spillovers to the local economy, but these spillovers are not automatic or free.
- One of the clearest ways in which knowledge flows between foreign and local firms is through buying and selling – that is, direct contact through backward and forward linkages.
- 3. Productivity spillovers are greater when local firms have a larger knowledge stock to begin with, such as human and technological (or absorptive) capabilities, because firms need to learn how to learn and adapt. This can be a short or a long process.
- 4. Local firms acquire and apply knowledge on process and product innovation by imitating practices in DFI investees, e.g. through labour mobility. There may also be indirect spillovers on governance through increased interactions between DFI firms and policy-makers.
- 5. Enhanced competition provides further incentives for firms to upgrade as long as they have the means to do so (e.g. access to finance). This can also lead to lower prices.

These pathways are shaped by public actions, including the actions of DFIs. Based on an understanding of these spillover processes, actors can address market and coordination failures in infrastructure; financial sector development; human-resource development; technological development; investment promotion; and the alignment of domestic regulatory frameworks with linkage development. DFIs have specific competencies that can help to make this happen.

Some DFIs have raised their ambitions in recent years. For example, the five-year strategy of the CDC Group launched at the Overseas Development Institute (ODI) in 2017 states that CDC will now 'invest to transform whole sectors' as well as investing in individual projects and will, according to its Chairman, Graham Wrigley, 'solve market and sector problems'. This shift has the potential to be truly transformative, given that so much action on economic transformation actually happens at the sector level (Balchin et al., 2019). There is a real opportunity now to turn that potential into action, even when it is challenging to do. DFIs are currently engaged in thematic areas (e.g. promoting jobs, addressing gender and climate change concerns), or are designing social or environmental impact plans for investee companies on a transactional basis. They are far less engaged, in strategic terms, than development actors.

Additional activities for DFIs

Three types of actions would fit the role of DFIs as development actors.

- 1. Coordinating investments: investments in manufacturing or agricultural firms would benefit from simultaneous investments in transport and energy infrastructure. DFIs can think in terms of clusters of investments. For example, garments firms in a Kenya export processing zone would benefit from investment in port infrastructure in Mombasa. DFIs are well placed to help overcome coordination failures across the private sector.
- 2. *Developing linkage programmes:* the active promotion of local linkages and the raising of local procurement through linkage programmes raises the profitability of the investee company and can help the

local economy. Increased local linkages can happen, but depend on sector and policy context, and require focused attention and experimentation. DFIs are ideally placed to support this process, working with other development actors.

 Policy influence: DFIs should continue to collaborate with governments to support national innovation systems (including trade facilitation, competition policy, better state-business linkages) and improve the relevance and quality of public expenditure. For example, some DFI investments in East African cement became unprofitable because, in part, governments restricted imports and failed to provide cheap and sufficient energy. Reversing this pattern requires a change in government action, for which DFIs could provide relevant insights.

Conclusion

DFIs are well placed to advance the interests of the private sector and help build markets when it is in the interest of the country as a whole. However, to do so, DFIs need to do more than make good investments; they also need to maximise the impact of their investments once made. This requires the development of skills that go far beyond project finance.

References

- Attridge, S., Calleja, R., Gouett, M. and Lemma, A. (2019) The impact of development finance institutions: rapid evidence assessment. London: Department for International Development (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5d1232bee5274a066ad2cf79/DFI_Impacts_REA_ Report_June_2019.pdf)
- Balchin, N., Booth, D. and te Velde D.W. (2019) *How economic transformation happens at the sector level: evidence from Africa and Asia*. ODI Report. London: Overseas Development Institute (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/12660.pdf)
- Carnegie Consult and ODI (2014), Evaluation Nederlandse Financierings Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden, report for the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs (www.rijksoverheid.nl/binaries/ rijksoverheid/documenten/rapporten/2014/04/25/evaluation-nederlandse-financieringsmaatschappij-voorontwikkelingslanden/evaluation-nederlandse-financieringsmaatschappij-voorontwikkelingslanden/evaluation-nederlandse-financieringsmaatschappij-voor-
- Jouanjean, M.A. and te Velde, D.W. (2013) *The role of development finance institutions in promoting jobs and structural transformation: a quantitative assessment*. Working Paper 377.. London: Overseas

Development Institute (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/8323.pdf) Lemma, A. (2018) *Measuring the potential contribution of development finance institutions to*

economic transformation. London: Overseas Development Institute (www.odi.org/publications/ 11182-measuring-potential-contribution-development-finance-institutions-economic-transformation)

- Massa, I., Mendez-Parra, M. and te Velde D.W. (2016) *The macroeconomic effects of development finance institutions in sub-Saharan Africa*. London: Overseas Development Institute (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/11182.pdf)
- te Velde, D.W. (2019) *Enhancing spillovers from foreign direct investment* London: Supporting Economic Transformation (https://set.odi.org/fdi-spillovers/)

11 Seeking impact unicorns: why development finance institutions should set their sights on transformational change

Chris Isaac and Mollie Liesner, AgDevCo

Abstract

Development finance institutions (DFIs) should set their sights on transformational change in poor countries. True transformation is infrequent, but it can be incredibly powerful by helping to create new industries and crowd in private capital. Companies that kick-start a process of transformational change, generate over a billion dollars of value for society, and lift large numbers of people out of poverty could be described as 'impact unicorns'.

AgDevCo has started to map the channels through which its investees generate indirect impact. Using a networks approach, we have mapped a macadamia farm in Malawi and a seed-potato producer in Zambia where there are early signs of transformational change. As DFI spending comes under increased public scrutiny, it is increasingly important to look beyond narrow measures of impact (such as job creation) and demonstrate how impact spreads out across an economy over the long term.

Introduction

Venture capitalists try to invest in 'unicorns': start-up companies that go on to reach \$1 billion valuations. They are rare – there are reported to be only about 350 unicorns globally (CB Insights, 2019) – but they can revolutionise industries and deliver significant financial returns for their early investors.

In development finance, we argue that a company that has catalysed transformational change in a low-income country and created over a billion dollars of value *for society* in a way that has lifted large numbers of people out of poverty represents a similar level of success. You might call such a company an 'impact unicorn'.

The Overseas Development Institute (ODI) defines transformational change as 'a continuous long-term process of shifting labour and other resources from lower- to higher-productivity activities, facilitating labour productivity growth over a sustained period [...resulting in...] more diversified and complex productive activities' (Balchin et al., 2019: 7).

DFIs should seek investments that are capable of kick-starting that type of process. It should also be recognised that due to various market failures, investments in pioneering companies may not always deliver the highest financial returns. In some cases, the pioneer may even be loss-making initially.

How can we encourage the creation of more impact unicorns?

First, we need to be able to point to successful examples, so that we are clear about what type of change we are trying to deliver.

CDC Group's investments in the Kenyan tea sector in the 1960s, for example, contributed to the country becoming the world's largest tea exporter. In Bangladesh, the garment industry, which today accounts for \$30 billion of exports each year, can be traced back to a joint venture between Daewoo and a local firm in the 1970s.

More recent examples of firms that appear to be on track to catalyse new industry models or deliver impact at significant scale are M-Kopa, an off-grid solar company in East Africa, and EthioChicken, an Ethiopian poultry business that sells improved chicken breeds to rural households.¹

Second, investors need to get better at spotting and nurturing companies that have transformation potential. DFIs have long experience of investing in low-income markets and a mandate to deliver impact. They should, therefore, be well-placed to build investment portfolios that include companies capable of driving systemic change. To improve the chances of success, DFIs and impact investors should share lessons more regularly about what has worked well in the past.

Third, there is a need for patient capital to support pioneering companies. As Collier et al. (2019) have argued, there is often a first-mover *disadvantage* in low-income countries. Pioneering companies face high upfront costs – such as developing a new business model, training local management, or establishing new routes to market – that followers can largely avoid.

The Daewoo joint garments venture in Bangladesh lost 115 out of 130 of its expensively trained managers to new domestic competitors within one year of Daewoo abandoning the agreement (Kabeer and Mahmud, 2004). CDC Group's investments in the Kenyan tea sector made only modest returns (Tyler and Dixie, 2012). M-Kopa and EthioChicken both relied on grants in their early years alongside more commercial investment. Reviewing a decade of experience in off-grid solar, M-Kopa's founder has written about some of the challenges facing first movers (Moore, 2019).

Successful pioneers can generate disproportionate impact. But the costs and uncertainties of being the first player in a new industry may deter private investors. As Profressor Sir Paul Collier said in a speech at a Norfund conference: 'No one wants to be firm number one ... If everyone wants to be firm number two, what happens? Nothing. You stay stuck' (Collier, 2018).

How AgDevCo tracks transformation

Governments are increasing funding support to DFIs and encouraging them to do more in low-income countries, even at the expense of portfolio returns that are lower than expected. This shift in approach brings a higher risk of investment failure and greater public scrutiny. In response, the development finance community needs to do more to explain and justify how it creates impact; going beyond narrow metrics such as job creation.

At AgDevCo, we are experimenting with ways of mapping the channels through which our investments deliver indirect impacts. We recently partnered with IPE Tripleline to analyse the economic networks around a macadamia farm in Malawi and a seed-potato producer in Zambia.

Tropha is the only fully irrigated macadamia farm and processor in Malawi. The company has also built an extensive out-grower network, buying macadamia, chillies, and paprika from over 3,200 farmers; almost half of whom are women. AgDevCo was an early investor in Tropha in 2014.

In Zambia, Saise Farming Enterprises Limited is the country's first commercial seed-potato producer, established by AgDevCo in 2017 in partnership with a Zambian potato company, Buya Bamba. It now supplies most of the Zambian seed-potato market, which previously relied on low-quality imports from South Africa.

The researchers used a network analysis approach and group discussions with employees and smallholder farmers to map the value chains and the financial flows around Tropha and Saise. The key findings were as follows.

 Both companies hired local contractors and purchased agricultural inputs from local vendors. In 2018, Tropha spent \$2.6 million mainly on construction and electrical work. Saise and its related company Katito spent

¹ AgDevCo is an investor in EthioChicken's Rwandan company, called Uzima, which started in 2017.

over \$3 million over the same period on local contractors. Those flows remained largely within the respective local economies.

- In 2018, wages of approximately \$145,000 were paid to local employees and around \$300,000 of additional income was generated for smallholder farmers. This is creating spillover effects in the local community including spending on goods and services from local businesses and on school fees, which is increasing attendance rates.
- There is early evidence of systemic impact. The success of Saise has already led to replication by a new seed producer in the south of the country and Buya Bamba is now planning an investment in a frozen chip facility. Tropha has recently built a chilli and paprika powder mill and has extended its irrigation system to supply 100 hectares of community land.

This type of mapping allows us to visualise how our investees interact with their communities and other actors in the value chain. It also helps us explain the depth and breadth of our impact to our funders.

An annual snapshot is helpful, but transformation is a dynamic process. While recognising there are challenges around attribution, we will track how these impacts develop over the long term as they spread out and multiply.

What does success look like?

If a portfolio of investments like Tropha and Saise can deliver sustained, broad-based impact while at the same time returning capital to be recycled, that would already represent a highly efficient use of aid. To make the claim of genuine transformation, however, we need to see replication effects and the leverage of large volumes of private capital.

We do not know how the macadamia industry in Malawi or the potato value chain in Zambia will develop over the next decade. We will, however, continue to monitor the indirect impacts of our investees as we support them as an investment partner over the years to come. Maybe one day we will be able to look back and say that we helped to build an impact unicorn.

Conclusion

The venture capital industry has created numerous unicorns, companies such as AirBnB, Instagram, WhatsApp and Uber, which have changed the way we live our lives. While recognising that only a small number of investments are likely to deliver truly transformational change, DFIs and impact investors could take a page out of the same book. We should set our sights high and seek impact unicorns – companies that transform economies, generate large economic multiplier effects, and reduce poverty at scale.

References

- Balchin, N., Booth, D. and te Velde, D.W. (2019) How economic transformation happens at the sector level: evidence from Africa and Asia. ODI Report. London: Overseas Development Institute (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/12660.pdf)
- CB Insights (2019) 'The global unicorn club'. Webpage. New York: CB Insights (www.cbinsights.com/ research-unicorn-companies)
- Collier, P. (2018) *Africa's development reinvented it's all about jobs*. Archived livestream. Aktiv Debatt web-tv, 4 September (https://livestream.com/aktivdebatt/events/8357524)
- Collier, P., Gregory, N. and Ragoussis, A. (2019) Pioneering firms in fragile and conflict-affected states: why and how development financial institutions should support them. Working Paper 2019/028.
 Oxford: Blavatnik School of Government, University of Oxford (www.bsg.ox.ac.uk/sites/default/ files/2019-04/BSG-WP-2019-028.pdf)

Kabeer, N. and Mahmud, S. (2004) 'Rags, riches and women workers: export-oriented garment manufacturing in Bangladesh' in M. Carr (ed.) *Chains of fortune: linking women producers and*

- *workers with global markets:* 133–165. London: Commonwealth Secretariat (www.wiego.org/sites/ default/files/publications/files/Carr-ChainsofFortune.pdf)
- Moore, J. (2019) 'A decade in, why the pay-as-you-go solar sector is maturing and brightening'. Blog. NextBillion, 22 May 2019 (https://nextbillion.net/pay-as-you-go-solar-maturing/)
- Tyler, G. and Dixie, G. (2012) *Investments in agribusiness: a retrospective view of a development bank's investments in agribusiness in Africa and East Asia.* Washington DC: World Bank (http://www.tzdpg.or.tz/fileadmin/_migrated/content_uploads/Findings-Agribusiness_CDC.pdf)

12 Not just any capital: why development finance institution intervention through foreign direct investment is different

Michael W. Hansen, Copenhagen Business School

Abstract

Development finance institutions (DFIs) blend their resources with private capital to promote development. But it makes a huge difference what type of private capital DFIs blend with! This essay argues that development outcomes deriving from blending with foreign direct investment (FDI) are fundamentally different from those deriving from blending with other types of capital. This is because FDI – in contrast to other types of capital – is accompanied by propriety assets and competencies that only can be accessed through FDI. This essay discusses the potential implications of this argument for DFI strategies and impact measurement methodologies.

Introduction

DFIs typically blend their resources with those of private investors to achieve development outcomes such as economic growth, environmental improvements, job creation, skills upgrading or economic restructuring. The private investors are local firms and entrepreneurs, foreign direct investors (sometimes labelled 'multinational corporations' (MNCs)), equity funds, pension funds or banks. Discussions about the development impact of DFIs and its measurement often ignore the fact that blending with FDI is fundamentally different from blending with other types of private capital.

What is FDI?

FDI is investment made to obtain management control of a foreign activity and is the defining characteristic of the MNC. FDI, as opposed to other types of capital such as portfolio investment, insurances, guarantees, or loans, comes with its own package of assets and competencies. Often, this package is not accessible to the host country through any other means than through FDI because the package is proprietary to the MNC and/or because it is embedded in the fabric of the MNC. The hard-to-acquire assets and competencies of MNCs include brands, technologies, know-how, market access, supply chain linkages and distribution networks.

Why is FDI important to developing countries?

FDI offers huge opportunities for developing countries: FDI in low- and middle-income countries totals five times the amount of official development assistance (ODA) and is several times larger than loans and portfolio investment. FDI, like other types of private capital, may fill a financial gap in developing countries and contribute to capital formation. But unlike other types of private capital, FDI is accompanied by assets and competencies that are vital to developing countries and that might be more valuable than the capital inflow alone.

FDI may, for example, bring in technology, organisation, and market access that make it possible to exploit natural resources such as minerals or oil and gas. Or FDI may organise

advanced transport and trade infrastructures that may enable foreign and local firms to engage in cross-border trade. Or FDI may bring in renewable energy technologies and solutions that will allow developing countries to reduce their carbon footprint. Very often, the investment project created by the FDI will be the tip of the iceberg in terms of development impact as some MNC competencies and assets may diffuse to local companies through linkages and spillovers. FDI may also have negative impacts on developing host countries. MNCs will often use their market power to crowd out local capital and jobs and foreign competitors. And large proportions of FDI relative to local capital formation can lead to surrender of control over important spheres of host-country economies.

How do DFIs work with FDI?

Given the key role of FDI in development, it makes sense for DFIs to harness its development potential. Consequently, most European DFIs work more or less explicitly with foreign direct investors.

DFIs can facilitate and shape the development impact of FDI in various ways:

- Co-financing MNC FDI through equity, guarantees or loans
- screening FDI to promote investments that produces maximum development impact such as those that have catalytic effects
- offering advice to MNC co-investors on finance, entry strategy, corporate governance, corporate social responsibility (CSR), or partner choice
- setting minimum standards for performance of the FDI project, such as labour, environment and safety standards
- measuring and reporting on the FDI's development impact.

DFIs can more effectively influence the development orientation of an FDI project if they, as they frequently do, take a seat on the board of the project.

DFI engagement with foreign direct investors is justified by information and coordination failures that cause an 'under-supply' of FDI in certain countries and sectors and in relation to certain types of firms. The engagement is also justified when DFIs use their leverage as co-investors and lenders to promote positive development outcomes from FDI and/or prevent negative development externalities. Finally, while DFIs tend to co-invest with MNCs deploying proven technologies and business models in developing countries, there are examples of DFIs entering FDI projects as venture capitalists, co-funding innovative but risky investments that might not otherwise have come off the ground.

What are the advantages for DFIs of working with foreign direct investors?

The implication for DFIs is that they must consider the comparative advantages of working with various forms of capital with great care. If the purpose of DFI intervention is simply to increase investment in the recipient country, DFIs would be able to engage with any type of private investor. But, if the purpose of DFI intervention is to mobilise MNC propriety/intangible assets and competencies, the most effective (and often only) mechanism will be to engage directly with the MNCs; either as co-investors, guarantors, or lenders. Frequently, it is exactly the package of assets and competencies accompanying the FDI, rather than the FDI itself, that is sought by developing countries.

What are the implications for impact measurement methodologies?

In terms of measuring development impacts, it is crucial that DFIs demonstrate additionality when they co-invest with MNCs, as this type of intervention is exceptionally sensitive to public scrutiny. Hence, DFIs need to develop methodologies that allow them to trace development impacts of their intervention to the specificities of the FDI, i.e. development impacts that derive from the introduction of technologies and competencies to the host country that would not have been available without the FDI. For this measurement, classical econometric and input-output (IO) estimation of impacts will be inadequate given that such methodologies fail to treat FDI differently from other types of capital.

Conclusion

DFIs have expanded their activities significantly in recent years and have adopted new and innovative ways to blend with private capital including with private equity, impact investors, pension funds or banks. This process is, in all likelihood, leading to a relative decline in interventions made directly in partnership with foreign direct investors, i.e. MNCs. If the purpose of DFIs is to fill financial gaps in developing countries, this trend need not constitute a problem. But, if the purpose of DFIs is to assist in bringing MNC propriety/intangible assets and competencies to developing countries, blending with FDI is unavoidable. Distributional impact of DFI investment

13 The impact of development finance institutions: what we know, what we don't and how to improve

Samantha Attridge, Overseas Development Institute, and Matthew Gouett, independent research consultant

Abstract

Studies on the impact of development finance institution (DFIs) remain limited in the scope of their analysis of impact. Evidence suggests that DFI investment stimulates gross job creation,¹ increases the installed energy capacity of countries, and increases access to finance by small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), which has positive direct, indirect and induced effects. However, we know far less about who gets these newly created jobs, their impact on poverty-alleviation, and the affordability of the generated energy or who accesses it. This lack of detail undermines the robustness of the prevailing theory of change for DFIs. This essay argues for more and better data on the true impact of DFIs.

Introduction

Over the past year, researchers at the Overseas Development Institute (ODI) have been working with the United Kingdom's Department for International Development (DFID) to assess the state of the literature on DFI impact (Attridge et al., 2019).² We analysed the evidence base linking DFI investment to increased incomes, to increases in access to goods and services, and to distributional impacts on poverty and employment for women and youth.

Our findings suggest that evidence that DFI investments lead to increased incomes is robust, based on the theory of change (ToC) put forward by DFIs. However, evidence on the impact of DFIs on increasing access to goods and services is much weaker and limited in terms of the breadth of goods and services provided. Literature on the distributional impacts of DFI investments on different segments of the population is extremely limited and needs to be strengthened as DFI impact reporting faces increased scrutiny given that DFIs have a growing role in the development finance architecture and are attracting greater investment.

What we know: jobs and energy provision³

We first examined the literature on links between rising income and DFI investment; however, such in-depth analyses simply do not exist. As most of the impact literature focuses on job creation, we used job creation as a proxy indicator for

¹ In general there is no clear evaluation of net and gross employment creation (i.e. taking into account potential displaced employment).

² Our study is based on 43 relevant pieces of literature that addressed (i) the question of DFI impact on incomes and access to goods and services; and (ii) met the quality standard for inclusion in a DFID Rapid Evidence Assessment.

³ We found a limited body of evidence to suggest that DFI investments in the financial sector have increased access to finance, but we were not able to draw any definitive conclusions as the findings of the literature were inconsistent.

increased income, working from the proposition that many of the jobs created directly by DFI investments are in the formal sector and that incomes increase as workers move from the informal sector into these new jobs, or move from unemployment to employment (El Badaoui et al., 2010). Essentially, we worked with the generic ToC that DFI investments in the private sector lead to jobs and economic growth and that this, in turn, leads to higher incomes.

A robust body of evidence indicates that DFI investment generates jobs. Of the 28 studies that discuss job creation included in our analysis, only one case in one comparative study suggests that job creation may not have been attributable to DFI investment. The rest of the evidence points consistently to direct and indirect job creation as a result of investment.

Most of these studies focus on investments in the energy sector and provid insights into the temporary and permanent jobs associated with the construction of infrastructure, as well as substantial indirect employment estimates resulting from these investments. In addition, a quarter of the studies included in our analysis focus on DFI investments in the financial sector and provide a multitude of examples of DFI funding to local banks that have enabled them to expand their SME lending portfolios, and have enabled SME borrowers to expand their operations and create new jobs.

Another area of broad agreement in the literature relates to DFI investment increasing the provision of energy. Studies on energy sector DFI investments present consistent evidence that these projects contribute to the installed energy base and that the resulting increase in installed capacity has reduced energy prices, improved the reliability of energy supply, and increased gross domestic product (GDP). Although there are issues in some of the studies in terms of how much of the installed capacity should be attributed directly to DFI investment, the evidence of increases is consistent.

What we don't know: poverty, gender outcomes and access to energy

While we know that DFIs purport to target their investments, at least partially, to sectors that reduce poverty directly or indirectly and to poor countries, the evidence base on DFI effectiveness on fighting poverty is weak. The limited number of studies that discuss poverty focus on the potential poverty-alleviating impacts of investments with no *ex-post* analysis to determine if this potential came to fruition.

This lack of focus on measuring the impacts on poverty is confirmed by the fact that only 2 of 43 studies included in our analysis looked solely at investments in low-income countries (LICs). What is not clear from our analysis is the reason for the absence of analysis. Is it because there are fewer investments in these countries?⁴ Or is it simply more difficult to carry out studies in LICs? The lack of answers to these questions remains a significant gap in the DFI literature.

Evidence that DFI investments increase female employment in an equitable way is also inconsistent. Looking at DFI investments in the financial sector, we found analyses that note greater levels of female employment in SMEs supported by DFI investment, but also major disparities in the proportion of new jobs going to women: from 5% to 85% of jobs.

One such study finds DFI-supported SMEs creating a cumulative 1,170 full-time jobs, of which only 63 were for women (IFC, 2014).⁵ Analyses that focus on investments in manufacturing sectors find that many of these firms had workforces that were at least 70% women, but do not discuss how many new jobs for women were created. While we are now more aware than ever of the importance of increasing women's participation in the formal labour force in developing economies, the DFI literature suggests that efforts by investors are lagging behind in their support for such participation.

⁴ See Attridge and Engen (2019) who argue that the potential of blended finance (i.e. DFI investment) is hindered by factors such as poor investment climate, lack of investable opportunities, and the low appetite for risk among many DFIs.

⁵ The study analysed a sample of 113 SMEs that in 2009 obtained loans from Habib Bank Ltd (HBL), an IFC client bank from Pakistan.
As mentioned, while there is a robust evidence base to suggest that DFI energy sector investments have led to an increase in the installed energy base and lower prices for energy, the literature does not tell us whether these investments are leading to greater access to energy. Although we acknowledge that energy transmission in most countries is the responsibility of the national government, the DFI literature we analysed is mostly silent on how many people actually access the newly generated energy and on its affordability.

In the few studies that mention end-user access, there are discrepancies between estimates by the DFI concerned and estimates by independent evaluators (Slob et al., 2017). These discrepancies underline the need for better understanding regarding actual access to and affordability of electricity if DFIs are going to use access to electricity as a meaningful goal for their investments (Norfund, 2016; CDC Group, 2017; Proparco, 2017).

How to improve: data collection and methodologies

What is most evident from our work with DFID is that the DFI literature is not as well developed as literature on similar subjects, such as aid, foreign direct investment (FDI) or trade. For us, the main reason for this gap is the authorship and intended readership of the studies. The DFI literature has been written by policy analysts for a policy audience. Academics and independent researchers have yet to commit their time and resources to studying DFIs, which makes the literature dependent on the information that DFIs and their clients are willing to share.

In addition, the measurement of impact has been limited to the impacts that DFIs want to report; not all of the impacts observers find important. DFIs, in collaboration with their stakeholders, could provide more resources for the independent collection and verification of data across relevant impact groups, which could increase the robustness of impact results and provide actual evidence to back up important claims of, for example, poverty alleviation via DFI investment.

Even with better data, the methodologies of DFI impact need to be more rigorous. Many of the studies captured by our analysis fail to mention a counterfactual (i.e. what would happen if the DFI didn't invest),⁶ fail to adequately acknowledge the possibility of omitted variables that could explain impact, and fail to wrestle with the idea of how much of the impact is attributable to the DFI investment. While this complexity requires additional resources, addressing it would strengthen the reliability of DFI impact reporting and reinforce the belief that the ToC supported by DFI investment is actually underway.

- Attridge, S. and Engen, L. (2019) *Blended finance in the poorest countries: the need for a better approach*. London: Overseas Development Institute (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/12666.pdf)
- Attridge, S., Calleja, R., Gouett, M. and Lemma, A. (2019) The impact of development finance institutions: rapid evidence assessment. London: Department for International Development (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5d1232bee5274a066ad2cf79/DFI_Impacts_REA_ Report_June_2019.pdf)

⁶ We acknowledge that creating a counterfactual to evaluate impact is both difficult and expensive; this may be why randomised control trials (RCTs) have not yet taken hold in the DFI literature.

- CDC Group (2017) *Investing to transform lives, strategic framework* 2017–2021. London: CDC Group (https://assets.cdcgroup.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/25150902/Strategic-Framework-2017-2021.pdf)
- El Badaoui, E., Strobl, E. and Walsh, F. (2010) 'The formal sector wage premium and firm size' *Journal* of *Development Economics* 91(1): 37–47
- IFC International Finance Corporation (2014) IFC and HBL supporting job creation in Pakistan. Washington DC: International Finance Corporation (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/261751489645160865/IFC-and-HBL-supporting-job-creation-in-Pakistan-case-study)
- Norfund (2016) *Norfund's strategy* 2016–2020. Oslo: Norfund (www.norfund.no/getfile.php/ 131726-1476449669/Dokumenter/Norfund%20strategy%202016-2020%20ENG%20%28ID%20 161654%29.pdf)
- Proparco (2017) Objective 2020. Paris: Proparco (www.proparco.fr/sites/proparco/files/2018-04-04-42-02/DP_Strategy_Proparco_2017-2020-EN.pdf)
- Slob, A., van Aalst, P., Vermeulen, J., Veenstra, E. and van der Haar, S. (2017) Evaluation FMO Access to Energy Fund. The Hague: Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (FMO) (www.fmo.nl/l/library/download/urn:uuid:c2e9f418-219c-4e1c-9e40-8b2d82719a86/ final+report+evaluation+aef_24+mar2017.pdf)

14 Development finance institutions: a complement, not a panacea

María José Romero, Eurodad, and Jeroen Kwakkenbos, Oxfam

Abstract

Increasing investment in development finance institutions (DFIs) means that they have an increased responsibility to support the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and are under increased pressure to demonstrate positive impact on development. However, little is understood about how DFI investment supports the eradication of poverty and enhances the welfare of poor and marginalised communities. This essay explores several reporting gaps and the need to strengthen the accountability of DFIs to the communities they aim to help. It argues that DFIs have an important and specific role to play, but what they can offer should not be seen as a panacea for every development challenge.

Introduction

Flows from DFIs to support private sector operations have grown rapidly since the start of the millennium and are of increasing influence in the development architecture. The combined portfolio of committed investments by members of the Association of European Development Finance Institutions (EFDI) totalled €37.2 billion at the end of 2017, representing a more than three-fold increase over the past decade from €10.9 billion at the end of 2005 (EDFI, 2019). But investment in DFIs means that they face greater scrutiny and have a greater responsibility to both deliver and report on positive development outcomes.

Where do DFIs fit in development?

DFIs have long been outsiders in the development discourse. Until recently, and despite having a development mandate, they have not occupied a major space in international discussions on financing for development or development effectiveness. Even though they are not actively engaged in the development community, that community has given them a central role in the Addis Ababa Action Agenda as well as other development-focused commitments and responsibilities.

In recent years, DFIs have become victims of their own success as their portfolios continue to grow and decision-makers in donor countries look for 'budget neutral' approaches to development cooperation. This can be seen in discussions at the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development's Development Assistance Committee (OECD DAC) on how to include private sector instruments (PSI), such as DFI investments, in the reporting of official development assistance (ODA) (DCD, 2017). More aid is being channelled through these institutions, while they are under increased pressure to demonstrate their development impacts.

DFIs have responded to this pressure by trying to account for any positive ripple and spillover effects created by their investments through complex causal models to demonstrate impact (IFC, 2017). This complexity poses some interesting challenges, but often ignores fundamental questions that matter for development; such as how their work has supported the goals of ending poverty and improving the welfare of poor and marginalised communities.

There is no doubt that DFIs have a strong positive impact in some areas, including the

provision of capital to innovative sectors or credit to constrained micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs). However, greater clarity is needed on their impact on areas normally associated with public service delivery. Investments in health and education, for example, do not reap the immediate commercial returns most DFIs seek and are usually seen as a responsibility of the public sector, but a healthy and educated workforce is crucial to the success of their investments (Webster, 2015; Malouf Bouse, 2019).

The clear complementarity between the work of DFIs with their clients and that of more traditional development agencies should be made far more explicit. One should not come at the expense of the other, and the increasing financial resources available to DFIs should not lead to a decrease in grants for public service delivery in areas such as health and education. DFIs themselves should also make it clear to decision-makers that they are not a panacea, and that there are areas where they will not be able to deliver development results.

Clear reporting gaps

DFIs face important challenges when it comes to designing, implementing, monitoring and reporting their investments, particularly if they are to be seen as development actors contributing to the achievement of the SDGs. These challenges are nothing new as Eurodad published its first report on some of these issues in 2012 (Kwakkenbos, 2012) with many other organisations also continuing to monitor DFI operations (Bracking and Ganho, 2011; 11.11.11, 2012; Thilaskasiri et al., 2012; CPDE, 2016; Jespersen and Curtis, 2016).

The discussions at the EADI Impact Conference in March 2019 in Brussels focused a great deal on reporting and indicated that DFIs are increasingly being asked to demonstrate impact that goes beyond traditional metrics of job creation and climate mitigation. Most DFIs refer to SDG 8 on decent work and economic growth and the decent work agenda that has job creation, social protection, rights at work and social dialogue as its main areas of contribution. However, the number of DFIs that either measure the impact of their investment on decent jobs explicitly or include decent jobs as part of their investment decision-making process is still quite small. Very few reflect on the net effect of their activities, i.e. how many jobs are created minus the ones lost because of a given investment.

One area for improvement is the inclusion of data disaggregated by gender, which could assess the impact of DFI operations on gender equality. As research shows, gender-responsive investments are vital for a meaningful contribution to the promotion of gender equality and women's rights (Gender and Development Network, 2019). Without this data on these actual impacts, it is impossible to know what role DFIs are playing.

Accountability to communities

There is much talk about DFIs' contribution to the SDGs and the importance of evaluation. However, a crucial aspect that was missing from the EDFI Impact Conference discussion was the impact of DFI investments on the communities and countries where they operate and how they engage with these communities at different stages of the project cycle.

DFIs operate within narrow parameters that are often defined by their relationships with their clients; an understandable by-product of their operational model. DFIs could benefit from moving beyond this myopic view and coordinating with other development actors to look at the impact of their clients and investment strategies on universally agreed development objectives within these communities. To be fully accountable for the impact of their investments, DFIs should reassess their consultation, complaint and compensation mechanisms.

Conclusion

DFIs are not solitary actors that operate in a vacuum; they have an important and complementary place in an ecosystem of approaches to development cooperation. They are part of a wide array of tools and strategies that governments have at their disposal to address development challenges. Like any other development modality, there are areas where they should be used and areas where they are not as effective as other options or are even detrimental (Geary, 2015). Looking ahead, DFIs need to be more vocal about what they think they can and cannot achieve in terms of development and the SDGs. They also need to engage more with the countries and communities where their clients operate.

- 11.11.11 (2012) Doing business to fight poverty? An evaluation of the Belgian Investment Company for Developing Countries (BIO). Brussels: 11.11.11 (https://eurodad.org/files/pdf/520a375cc0bb6.pdf)
- Bracking, S. and Ganho, A.S. (2011) *Investing in private sector development: what are the returns?* Oslo: Norwegian Church Aid (www.kirkensnodhjelp.no/contentassets/ c1403acd5da84d39a120090004899173/2011/nca_report_investing_in_private_sector_ development.pdf)
- CPDE CSO Partnership for Development Effectiveness (2016) *The development effectiveness of supporting the private sector with ODA funds*. Brussels: Trade Union Development Cooperation Network (www.ituc-csi.org/IMG/pdf/tudcn-dfi_study_web_en.pdf)
- DCD Development Co-operation Directorate (2017) *Private sector instruments for the SDGs: transparency in finance for development*. Paris: Development Co-operation Directorate (www.oecd. org/dac/Private%20Sector%20Instruments%20Flyer%20DAC%20HLM%202017.pdf)
- EDFI Association of European Development Finance Institutions (2019) 'Facts & figures'. Webpage. Brussels: Association of European Development Finance Institutions (www.edfi.eu/members/ facts-figures/)
- Geary, K. (2015) The suffering of others. The human cost of the International Finance Corporation's *lending through financial intermediaries*. Oxford: Oxfam International. (www.oxfam.org/en/research/suffering-others)
- Gender and Development Network (2019) 'How social protection, public services and infrastructure impact women's rights'. Briefing. London: the Gender and Development Network (http://gadnetwork.org/gadn-news/2019/1/8/new-briefing-how-social-protection-public-services-and-infrastructure-impact-womens-rights) [accessed 26 Feb 2019]
- IFC International Finance Corporation (2017) Economy-Wide Private Impact Quantification model EPIQ Ethiopia pilot: estimating and analyzing expected impacts of private investments in Ethiopia. Washington DC: International Finance Corporation (www.jobsanddevelopment.org/wp-content/ uploads/2018/10/EPIQ-Ethiopia.pdf)
- Jespersen, S. and Curtis, M. (2016) *Development finance institutions and corporate responsible tax behaviour*. Joint Agency Briefing Paper. Oxford: Oxfam (www.oxfam.org/en/research/ development-finance-institutions-and-corporate-responsible-tax-behaviour)
- Kwakkenbos, J. (2012) Private profit for public good? Can investing in private companies deliver for the poor? Brussels: Eurodad (https://eurodad.org/1543000)
- Malouf Bous, K. (2019) False promises. How delivering education through public-private partnerships risks fueling inequality instead of achieving quality education for all. Oxford: Oxfam International. (https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/620720/bp-world-bank-education-ppps-090419-en.pdf)
- Thilaskasiri, S., Nash, R. and Perrault, A. (2012) *Risky business: intermediary lending and development finance*. Oxfam Issue Briefing. Oxford: Oxfam (www.oxfam.org/en/research/risky-business)
- Webster, P. (2015) 'Lesotho's controversial public-private partnership project' *The Lancet* 386(10007): 1929–1931 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00959-9)

DFI impact frameworks and tools

15 Development effects of foreign direct investment in the realm of the New Development Paradigm: implications for development finance institutions

Camilla Valeur Nygaard, Roskilde University, and Michael W. Hansen, Copenhagen Business School

Abstract

This essay is a contribution to the ongoing work of development finance institutions (DFIs) to further develop methodologies that capture a broader range of development effects from DFIsupported investments. Our point of departure is foreign direct investment (FDI) where DFIs invest alongside multinational enterprises (MNEs), but the framework may also be relevant for other types of DFI investments.

We argue that DFIs face increasing explicit requirements from their home governments to support sustainable development through their investments, which calls for a conceptual framework to understand the potential links between FDI and sustainable development.

Introduction

Home and host-country governments have strong expectations about the development effects that can be achieved through a development strategy centred on FDI (Oetzel and Doh, 2009; Narula and Pineli, 2019). These expectations are, for example, reflected in the mandating of national DFIs by their governments to also work through FDI (te Velde, 2011) as well as in competition among host-country governments to attract FDI (Narula and Pineli, 2016).

Since the 1980s the perception of development has evolved from a narrow focus on structural adjustment to ensure economic growth, towards a focus on sustainable development that, by most definitions, spans economic, social and environmental development issues (Rist, 2014). According to Dunning (2006) and Dunning and Fortanier (2007), this evolution can be explained as a transition from the Old Development Paradigm (ODP) to the New Development Paradigm (NDP). The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and later the Sustainable development Goals (SDGs) are expressions of the NDP, which also highlights the importance of the private sector and crosssector partnerships to realise development goals.

Discussions in academia about the relationship between FDI and host-country development are long, controversial and focused mainly on economic development (Rugman and Doh, 2008). As the perception of sustainable development is broad, complex and features built-in trade-offs between objectives, it is necessary to study how FDI can contribute to these broader end-goals and how DFIs can support this contribution: the focus of this essay.

First, we highlight some of the characteristics of the NDP compared to the ODP before presenting a framework to capture the development effects of FDI in the realm of the NDP. Finally, we set out some implications for DFIs.

Characteristics of the NDP vs. the ODP

The NDP is characterised by having sustainable development as its end goal, whereas economic growth was the goal for the ODP. While the concept of economic growth is somehow well defined, however, the concept of sustainable development suffers from being ambiguous and is seen, therefore, as hard to operationalise (Rist, 2014; Kolk, 2016).

Institutions are central to sustainable development

Institutions are not of major interest in the ODP, while they play a key role in the NDP. Institutions are the formal and informal institutions of the host country and include both laws and regulations (formal institutions) and the norms and behaviours that guide their implementation (informal institutions). According to the NDP, one of the most important preconditions for sustainable development is institutional development to, for example, influence the development of laws and institutions that underpin economic growth while safeguarding social and environmental standards (Dunning and Fortanier, 2007).

Firms are 'active' development actors

In the ODP, the private sector tends to be treated as a homogenous group, with any development effects something that happens as an unintended side effect of its operations rather than the result of its active and intentional efforts (Lee and Gereffi, 2015). In the NDP, however, the private sector is assigned a key role in achieving the SDGs (Scheyvens et al., 2016). In the NDP firms are expected to act proactively for development – as active development actors – and this can be reflected in their corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities, including their focus on developing products and services to solve societal challenges.

Framework to capture development effects in the realm of the NDP

Building on Dunning and Fortanier (2007) and the concept of the NDP, we have surveyed the economic literature on the development effects of FDI combined with CSR and institutional theory to develop a comprehensive framework for assessing the impact of FDI in developing countries. This framework may prove useful for DFIs.

The framework makes a distinction between effects at three levels: extra-firm, inter-firm and intra-firm. Extra-firm effects are those that reach beyond the firm and other firms and can wield influence at a systemic or macroeconomic level. Inter-firm effects are defined as those that influence host-country firms (whether a single firm or a whole sector). Intra-firm effects are defined as those that influence people working at the affiliate and the environmental footprint of the affiliate. Separating these three levels facilitates the assessment of potential development effects from investments.

The framework further distinguishes between the 'active' and 'passive' mechanisms that generate certain effects. Passive mechanisms are those identified in the economic literature being where development effects occur mainly as an unintended side effect of the investment from the point of view of the MNE. In contrast, active mechanisms refer to societal engagement and interest from part of the MNE that has a positive influence on host-country development.

Extra-firm effects

Looking at effects that are generated passively, we see that MNEs can influence the host country in terms of foreign capital, growth in gross domestic product (GDP) and more (for reviews see Caves, 1996, and Meyer, 2004). These economic mechanisms can generate negative effects in cases where repatriation of profits and transfer pricing reduce the host country's capital savings and tax basis (Dunning and Lundan, 2008). The MNE can also attract more FDI to the country from other investors through demonstration effects (Narula and Pineli, 2019).

Passive mechanisms (economic and profit orientation) can give MNEs influence on communities living close to the location of the affiliate in terms of, for example, increased job opportunities (Ferdausy and Rahman, 2009). They can also influence consumers by bringing products and services to the market and can seek to influence laws and regulations affecting their business (Cantwell et al., 2010). The active mechanisms of MNEs that can lead to extra-firm effects are very much in line with CSR practices and shared-value thinking (Dunning and Fortanier, 2007; Porter and Kramer, 2011; Kourula et al., 2017). Shared value is defined as policies and practices of companies that, on the one hand, enhance their competitiveness and, on the other, improve social and environmental development in the host countries where they operate (Porter and Kramer, 2011).

Active mechanisms can be in the form of community-oriented CSR approaches that support local development, such as a commitment to recruit staff from the local community and to support individuals in terms of their education and training (Schönherr et al., 2017). Based on insights into the challenges facing the host country, MNEs can develop and market innovative products and services to solve societal problems and improve the lives of poor people (Prahalad and Hart, 2002; Kolk et al., 2014). MNEs can engage with governments to improve social and environmental regulation in the sector where they operate.

Example: extra-firm effects

To illustrate the difference between passive and active mechanisms, imagine an investment in a hospital in Kenya.

Passive mechanisms would involve investors entering the market with a narrow, profitoriented view. This might result in yet another hospital with generalised primary care services, with the risk of over-treating patients to increase profits or crowd out existing hospitals.

Active mechanisms would involve investors entering the market on the basis of their knowledge of the overall health care challenges of the country as well as the areas currently under-served by public or other private hospitals. Here, investors would focus on developing and tailoring hospital services to meet the overall needs of the country, such as the need for specialised treatments. Parts of the hospital services provided could also target the poor directly through low-cost treatments.

Inter-firm effects

Examples of passive mechanisms that lead to inter-firm effects refer to existing literature on the (indirect) effects of FDI, pointing to the superior knowledge and technology that MNEs can 'spillover' to domestic firms and influence their productivity. This can happen through demonstration effects. These effects can be seen, for example, when domestic firms imitate the MNE or when increased competition (resulting from the presence of the MNE) forces them to become more efficient, or when workers move from the affiliate to host-country firms and bring new knowledge with them. Host-country firms that supply to MNEs can benefit from these increased volumes the MNEs require.

Negative inter-firm effects can take place when host-country firms are crowded out of the industry as a result of increased competition caused by the presence of the MNE (Blomström and Kokko, 1998; Görg and Strobl, 2001).

Active mechanisms express themselves in the MNE's CSR strategy to engage actively in local supply chains and support host-country suppliers to upgrade. By building these linkages, MNEs can play a key role in strengthening local firms through technical assistance and other forms of support. These actions may include extending codes of conduct and social and environmental standards to suppliers, which can, in turn, enhance the social and environmental standards of local firms (Christmann and Taylor, 2001; Kaplinsky and Morris, 2017).

Example: inter-firm effects

One example of active and passive mechanisms that produce inter-firm effects could be an investment in a coffee roaster and exporter in Kenya.

Here, a passive mechanism would lead the MNE to buy coffee from the most cost-efficient available suppliers, which could increase the volume of coffee sold by coffee producers. Other exporters might imitate some of the practices of the MNE and perhaps start roasting in the country as well (generating more value-added in the country), but it happens as an unintended side effect.

Level of effects	Passive mechanisms	Active mechanisms			
Extra-firm	Foreign capital, tax revenues, attract more FDI to the country/sector, GDP growth, trade balance effects.	Community development through tailored CSR projects and collaboration with local authorities.			
	Effects on local communities surrounding the affiliate.	Strengthen social and environmental knowledge, skills and priorities of policy-makers and regulators. More sustainable laws and regulations.			
	Changes in laws and framework conditions. Introducing new or cheaper products and services.				
		Innovative products and services to solve societal problems and improve the lives of poor people.			
Inter-firm	Effects on host-country firms' productivity and industry concentration through demonstration effects, competition, labour turnover and linkages.	Upgrading host-country firms in terms of value added, social and environmental standards though long-term strategic linkages.			
		Demonstration effects to competitors increasing social and environmental standards in the industry.			
Intra-firm	Jobs, training, above-market technology.	Environmental and social standards, decent jobs, codes of conduct, green technology.			

Table 2 Analytical framework: development effects in the realm of the NDP

Source: authors, drawing on Dunning and Fortanier (2007).

A strategic CSR approach sees the MNE making investments in strengthening the social, environmental and quality standards of suppliers through backward linkages as an integrated part of its business model. Such an effort could also include micro-finance to enable farmers to invest in their production. The development effects could result in suppliers experiencing not only the increased volume of their produce, but also its increased value.

Intra-firm effects

Passive mechanisms, i.e. 'business as usual' approaches can lead to new jobs, training of employees, and the introduction of technology by the MNE. These can all improve people's incomes and competencies and, therefore, their situation.

Active mechanisms at an intra-firm level reflect in the MNE's CSR policies at the affiliate e.g. high environmental and social standards (Fortanier and Kolk, 2007). Most MNEs pay higher wages than host-country firms (te Velde and Morrissey, 2004) and MNEs can generate decent jobs that promote above-market, nonwage working conditions such as insurance and paid overtime (OECD, 2008). MNEs can also introduce green technology (Kolk et al., 2018).

Example: intra-firm effects

One example to illustrate passive and active mechanisms at an intra-firm level could be an investment in a hotel in Kenya.

Passive mechanisms can lead the MNE to apply their global model for human resource (HR) practices without having a particular eye on the precise needs of the employees of that specific host country. Global HR practices could still be above market standards in terms of efficiency, training and management styles, but could also build on a business model of exploiting the low wages and bad working conditions of the host country.

Active mechanisms are exemplified in the high CSR and above-market social and environmental standards introduced at the hotel. Such a business strategy builds on an assessment of the specific needs of employees and takes particular care around, for example, tribal issues, gender issues or particular educational or training needs.

Implications for DFIs

At present, DFIs work to identify the positive and negative links between their investments and sustainable development. In this context, our framework may prove very useful for three reasons.

- 1. The framework intends to provide a more holistic and integrated view on development effects in terms of considering both potentially positive and negative effects.
- 2. The starting point is for DFIs to have some knowledge and insights about the development challenges of the sectors and countries where they invest. Based on this knowledge they can screen and engage in partnerships with MNEs that have the innovative power and interest to develop solutions to those challenges.
- 3. The framework specifies the levels where the investment can generate effects. Based on an

assessment of the levels where an investment is likely to generate the most valuable effects, DFIs and MNEs can take action to ensure that this potential is integrated into the business strategy.

Based on the distinction between passive and active mechanisms, DFIs need to work with MNEs that are interested in and capable of driving societal engagement. This distinction also implies that DFIs should shift their focus from compliance requirements at an intra-firm level to the expectations that MNEs will engage at the inter-firm and extra-firm levels.

- Blomström, M. and Kokko, A. (1998) 'Multinational corporations and spillovers' *Journal of Economic* Surveys 12(2): 1–31
- Cantwell, J., Dunning, J.H. and Lundan, M.S. (2010) 'An evolutionary mechanism to understanding international business activity: the co-evolution of MNEs and the institutional environment' *Journal of International Business Studies* 41: 567–586
- Caves, R. (1996) *Multinational enterprise and economic analysis*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press
- Christmann, P. and Taylor, G. (2001) 'Globalization and the environment: determinants of firm self-regulation in China' *Journal of International Business Studies* 32(3): 439–458
- Dunning, J. H. (2006) 'Towards a new paradigm of development: implications for the determinants of international business' *Transnational Corporations* 15(1): 173–227
- Dunning, J.H. and Fortanier, F. (2007) 'Multinational enterprises and the New Development
- Paradigm: consequences for host country development' Multinational Business Review 15(1):25-45
- Dunning, J. H. and Lundan, M. S. (2008) *Multinational enterprises and the global economy*, 2nd edn. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing
- Ferdausy, S. and Rahman, S. (2009) 'Impact of multinational corporations on developing countries' *The Chittagong University Journal of Business Administration* 24: 111–137
- Fortanier, F. and Kolk, A. (2007) 'On the economic dimensions of corporate social responsibility: exploring Fortune Global 250 reports' *Business and Society* 46(4): 457–478
- Görg, H. and Strobl, E. (2001) 'Multinational companies and productivity spillovers: a meta-analysis' *The Economic Journal* 111: 723–739
- Kaplinsky, R. and Morris, M. (2017) *How regulation and standards can support social and environmental dynamics in global value chains*. Geneva: International Centre for Trade and Sustainable Development (www.ictsd.org/sites/default/files/research/how_regulation_and_standards_ can_support_social_and_environmental_dynamics_in_global_value_chains.pdf)
- Kolk, A. (2016) 'The social responsibility of international business: from ethics and the environment to CSR and sustainable development' *Journal of World Business* 51: 23–34
- Kolk, A., Rivera-Santos, M. and Rufín, C. (2014) 'Reviewing a decade of research on the "base/bottom of the pyramid" (BOP) concept' *Business and Society* 53(3): 338–377

- Kolk, A., Kourula, A. and Pisani, N. (2018) 'Multinational enterprises and the Sustainable Development Goals: what do we know and how to proceed' *Translational Corporations* 24(3): 9–31
- Kourula, A., Pisani, N. and Kolk, A. (2017) 'Corporate sustainability and inclusive development: highlights from international business and management research' *Environmental Sustainability* 24: 14–18
- Lee, J. and Gereffi, G. (2015) 'Global value chains, rising power firms and economic and social upgrading' *Critical Mechanisms on International Business* 11(3/4): 313–339
- Meyer, K.E. (2004) 'Mechanisms on multinational enterprises in emerging economies' Journal of International Business Studies 35: 259–276
- Narula, R. and Pineli, A. (2016) *Multinational enterprises and economic development in host countries: what we know and what we don't know.* Economics & Management Discussion Papers from Henley Business School. Reading: Reading University (https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/assets.henley. ac.uk/legacyUploads/pdf/research/papers-publications/JHD-2016-01_Narula_and_Pineli.pdf)
- Narula, R. and Pineli, A. (2019) 'Improving the developmental impact of multinational enterprises: policy and research challenges' *Economia e Politica Industriale* (2019) 46:1–24
- OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2008) *Employment Outlook* 2008. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, OECD Publishing
- Oetzel, J. and Doh, P.P.J. (2009) 'MNEs and development: a review and reconceptualization' *Journal of* World Business 44: 108–120
- Prahalad, C.K. and Hart, L. S. (2002) 'The fortune at the bottom of the pyramid' *Strategy and Business* 26: 2–16
- Porter, M. E. and Kramer, M. R. (2011) 'Creating shared value' *Harvard Business Review* 89 (1–2) (January February 2011)
- Rist, G. (2014) *The history of development: from western origins to global faith*. Fourth Edition. London: Zed Books
- Rugman, A. M. and Doh, J.P. (2008) Multinationals and development. Yale University Press
- Scheyvens, R., Banks, G. and Hughes, E. (2016) 'The private sector and the SDGs: the need to move beyond 'business as usual" *Sustainable Development* 24: 371–382
- Schönherr, N., Findler, F. and Martinuzzi, M. (2017) 'Exploring the interface of CSR and the Sustainable Development Goals' *Transnational Corporations* 24(3): 33–47
- te Velde, D. and Morrissey, O. (2004) 'Foreign direct investment, skills and wage inequality in East Asia' *Journal of the Asia Pacific Economy* 9(3): 348–369
- te Velde, D. (2011) *The role of development finance institutions in tackling global challenges*. London: Overseas Development Institute (www.odi.org/publications/5974-dfi-development-finance-institution-global-challenge)

16 Measuring and managing the development impact of an investment portfolio: the Development Effectiveness Rating (DERa)

Julian Frede and Elleke Maliepaard, Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft

Abstract

Guided by the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG), a member of KfW Group, has created and implemented a new system to measure and manage the development impact of its portfolio: the Development Effectiveness Rating (DERa). This essay outlines DEG's experience in setting up such a system, focusing on three major steps:

- defining development from a private sector perspective
- operationalising this definition via an indicator system and a rating score, and
- applying the rating score and the indicator system to manage investment for development impact.

Introduction: the need to measure development impact

The SDGs acknowledge a key role for the private sector in the achievement of the agreed targets. However, any discussion of the linkages between private sector activities and the SDGs hinges on data on development impact. It is vital, therefore, to measure the development impact of private sector investment and to manage that investment in a way that ensures the greatest possible impact on development. This is particularly true for development institutions that work with the private sector, including development finance institutions (DFIs).

Theory of change

It is only possible to measure development impact and manage investment towards that impact once we define, explicitly, what development means. With its theory of change (ToC), DEG has built a robust understanding of how DFI clients and private sector companies in developing countries contribute to development. The development of the ToC was underpinned by an iterative process that included internal interviews from top management to analysts, literature reviews on theories and empirical findings, results from evaluation studies, indepth peer reviews and a sounding board of international experts (including KfW, Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE), the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and Steward Redqueen).

The DERa ToC starts from the activities of a DEG client (Client activity) before looking at its resulting outputs (Client output), its desired development effects (Societal outcome) and, finally, the structural changes to society or the environment resulting from the achieved societal outcomes (Societal impact). In one further step, DEG's role is incorporated into the model (DEG input) (Figure 7). This simple ToC condenses more detailed versions that consider other specifics such as the type of client (corporate, project finance, financial institution, private equity fund and others).

The DERa: how it works

Based on the ToC, the DERa uses five outcome categories to assess the development contributions of each client and to present the development effects of investments made by DEG's clients and their contribution to the SDGs:

- decent jobs
- local income
- market and sector development
- environmental and social stewardship (E&S), and
- community benefits (Figure 8).

The first three categories assess major contributions to development by the private sector while the remaining two show whether a company is acting in a sustainable manner on behalf of the environment and the communities within it.

DERa indicator selection

These five outcome categories form the backbone of the DERa rating. Each outcome category is then operationalised in a two-step approach to derive a single indicator. DERa combines both quantitative and qualitative indicators to fully comprehend impact. The quantitative indicators are partly static and partly dynamic, while the qualitative indicators on E&S performance differentiate between 'do no harm' and 'do good'. The indicators selected for the measurement of development impact are, when applicable, aligned to the Harmonized Indicators for Private Sector Operations (HIPSO). The indicators have been tested by investment staff and DEG to check that they are understandable to - and reportable by - clients. Further, most indicators have been selected because they already exist in other forms of reporting, including financial reports (such as tax payments from audited annual reports) or E&S data (such as the number of jobs that are part of a DFI's general E&S monitoring). By using existing indicators, DEG can limit the reporting burden and use existing data as efficiently as possible.

Figure 8 DERa outcome categories



Source: DEG (2019).

Figure 7 DEG's ToC



Source: DEG (2018).

Creating a single key performance indicator (KPI): calibration of a rating

The DERa score consists of 150 points. 75% of the points can be achieved in the first three outcome categories that define the core development contributions; the last two categories which describe 'the way of doing business' make up 25% of the total number of available points.

The decision on how to weight the different categories and what are the maximum scores for indicators within one outcome category are taken by DEG based on the relative importance of the indicators for development. The relative importance has been determined as part of the iterative development process of the DERa including a literature review, internal as well as external peer review and expert feedback. The distribution of points is based on a representative data sample of DEG's portfolio for each indicator that showed the distribution of the different indicator values.

Figure 9 shows an example of how a company can score in the outcome category, 'Decent jobs'. Of the maximum number of 38 points that can be achieved, 20 can be achieved in the pillar '# jobs weighted by the level of decency' and nine each in the pillars '% job growth since DEG's investment' and 'Indirect job potential'. Based on the figures reported by the client, the client achieves 15 points in the first pillar, 6 in the second and 9 in the last pillar. Aggregated, the client receives 30 out of 38 potential points in this outcome category.

By adding up the points of each of the five outcome categories, the DERa produces a single KPI on the development quality of a single client.

No need to reinvent the wheel

When developing DERa, DEG was able to build upon existing knowledge, and in particular the following:

- the SDGs and their target system, seen as the global definition for development
- the HIPSO, developed by an initiative by international financial institutions (IFIs)
- valuable peer support, particularly within the Association of European Development Finance Institutions' (EDFI) Development Effectiveness working group
- 15 years of impact measurement by DEG's predecessor Corporate Policy Project Rating (GPR)¹ system
- DEG's internal expertise of collecting E&S indicators, related primarily to International Finance Corporation (IFC) performance standards and International Labour Organization (ILO) standards, and strategic evaluation study: *Defining and measuring sustainably successful clients and DEG's contributions to clients* (Bertoen and de Bruijn, 2015)

Outcome Category		Pillars for scoring	Actual figures	DERa points		
Decent jobs		 # of jobs (weighted by level of decency) 	20.450 employees & compliance at 75%	•	15/20	30/38
		 % job growth 	• 71%		6/9	
		 Indirect job potential 	• High		9/9	

Figure 9 Example decent jobs calculation

Source: DEG, internal DERa documentation

¹ Geschäftspolitischen Projektrating in German.

Managing investment for development impact

DEG manages the quality of its whole portfolio and for each single investment. It also has clear financial targets for its return on equity (RoE). The average DERa score is invaluable in measuring DEG's development returns. In addition, an *ex-ante* assessment of a DERa score for each investment, an expected score to be achieved in five years, and an annual DERa update enable DEG to mansage and enhance development quality for each single client.

The average DERa score for the whole portfolio shows the development quality of DEG's portfolio in a specific year. At a single-client level, DEG expects to see improvements over time. On average, however, as new clients (scoring lower than the average) enter the portfolio and previous clients (scoring above the average) leave, the average score might not alter that much. In the first years of DERa usage, therefore, DEG aims to maintain the 'steady state' of its portfolio quality.

The DERa also allows for much-needed disaggregation as it is comprised of multiple data inputs at the level of the single client. This makes it possible to compare regions or specific client groups in relation to their DERa scores and their role in supporting return on development.

On the level of the single client, DERa has two primary management functions:

- at acquisition, a baseline and an *ex-ante* estimation for the status in five years allows portfolio managers to determine whether a client supports DEG's DERa portfolio target
- for portfolio management, the DERa score shows the development potential of each client and, as the rating can be disaggregated and comparisons made for each indicator, the potential for improvement is visible up to the level of each single indicator.

DERa experience: lessons learned

DEG has been using DERa since the beginning of 2017. It is applied annually to DEG's entire portfolio and has been applied to all new commitments since January 2017, achieving 100% coverage of DEG's clients in both 2017 and 2018. The DERa score is one of the major KPIs for DEG's own overall performance and the DERa data are used for all impact-related DEG reporting, including the annual reporting on development impact (DEG, 2019).

Data quality is a prerequisite for impact management

When management and reporting are based on data, the quality of the data used is critical. The following four data quality checks are applied for DERa:

- automatic checks in the input system in case data are missing or incorrect
- automatic data consistency checks after data are released in the input system, e.g. the number of jobs and personnel expenses should have a relationship that does not result in extraordinary low or high average wages
- manual checks by the impact team for each DERa score and for the overall portfolio data
- finally, the data are approved by DEG's auditor at the close of the financial year.

A current external validation of the DERa, comparable to the validation of a financial indicator such as rating or risk-adjusted return, has approved the functioning and data quality of the DERa system.

Communications and understanding are major aspects of impact management

The DERa system does far more than generate a single KPI for management: it also results in a dashboard with the option to disaggregate portfolio-level data at the client level. This allows DEG to compare specific clients with larger client groups and gain insights into the potential for improvement. For example, a regional comparison of DEG clients in Africa and Asia can lead to lessons learned and ideas for further guidance. Another example arises where the quality of the environmental management of a client is well below the regional or sectoral benchmark: options for improvements are provided to the client manager.

Linking DERa to the SDGs

To be able to understand and report the contribution of its private sector clients to the SDGs, DERa includes an automatic linkage between the DERa indicators and the 17 SDGs. Two examples illustrate this linkage:

- a DEG client contributes to SDG 3 on healthy lives for all if they are active in the health sector, e.g. a hospital, or if they provide health benefits to employees or local communities, such as insurance schemes or local health stations.
- a DEG client contributes to SDG 17 on partnerships for the goals if they pay taxes to the domestic government, thereby contributing to domestic resource mobilisation, as defined by target 17.1.2: the proportion of the domestic budget funded by domestic taxes.

Because the DERa is applied at the client level, DEG can report explicitly on the contribution being made to the SDGs by a single client or any grouping of clients (Figure 10). DEG can, in turn, demonstrate the strength of this contribution by using the DERa indicators. For example, when reporting on SDG 17, DEG can report that its portfolio clients annually pay more than €3 billion in tax.

Figure 10 DERa indicators are linked to SDG target indicators

DERa outcome category		Contribution to SDG (automatic linkage)			
Decent jobs	0000	5 tiber To the second s			
Local income		1 monte 1 8 monte and ↑ monte 1 8 monte and ↑ monte 1 17 monte cause ↑ monte 1 17 monte cause ↑ monte 1 17 monte cause			
Market and sector development		9 RELEASE AND A DECEMBER OF THE ADDRESS OF THE ADDR			
Environmental stewardship		7 HIMBARLAN 212 DECOMPUTE COCO 13 CHART COCO 13 CHART COCO			
Community benefits		2 the 3 secondaries 4 pourty			

Source: internal DEG presentation on DERa-SDG links

Conclusion

At a time of an ever-greater focus on impact, providing investment staff with more than financial KPIs for investment performance is a solution that incentivises impact. Making the links to wider frameworks such as the SDGs is of the utmost importance. DEG is now joining forces with other interested parties so that they can share their knowledge and work together under the DERa system.

For more details on DERa, please see 'We measure development outcome' (DEG, 2018).

- Bertoen, K. and de Bruijn, M. (2015) *Defining and measuring sustainably successful clients and DEG's contributions to clients*. Cologne: prepared by Steward Redqueen BV in cooperation and on behalf of Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG) (www.deginvest.de/DEG-Documents-in-English/About-DEG/What-is-our-impact/Report_Defining_and_measuring_sustainably_successful_clients_DEG_contribution_2015_09.pdf)
- DEG Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (2018) 'We measure development outcome'. Webpage. Cologne: Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (www.deginvest.de/ International-financing/DEG/%C3%9Cber-uns/Was-wir-bewirken/Wir-messen-Wirksamkeit/)
- DEG (2019) Responsible business adding value: how DEG customers contribute to the global Sustainable Development Goals. Cologne: Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (www.deginvest.de/DEG-Documents-in-English/About-us/What-is-our-impact/ DevelopmentReport2018.pdf)

17 How can development finance institutions define and support 'The sustainably acting and financially successful company'

Julian Frede, Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft

Abstract

Companies that act sustainably while being financially successful tend to improve the living conditions of people. The main objective of Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG) is to contribute to the sustainable success of such companies as part of its mandate as a development finance institution (DFI). A strategic evaluation study by DEG provides the first answers to three key questions:

- how do we define such clients?
- how do we measure their sustainability and financial success?
- and how do we demonstrate the contributions of DFIs?

Introduction

Companies that act sustainably and are financially successful tend to improve the economic, ecological and social conditions of people in developing countries. Examples of such improvements include the creation of more decent jobs, support of local communities by the company or, even on a global level, the avoidance of CO_2 emissions. Contributing to the sustainable success of clients is, therefore, the main objective of DEG as a DFI.

This essay examines the characteristics of clients that act sustainably and are financially successful and outlines how DFIs can best contribute to the sustainable success of their clients. There is, however, no clear-cut and broadly accepted definition of sustainable success and no standard measurement methodology for sustainable client success. DEG has collaborated with Steward Redqueen to explore these questions in a strategic evaluation study (Bertoen and de Bruijn, 2015), the findings of which we outline in this short essay.

Defining and measuring companies that act sustainably and are financially successful

Our strategic evaluation study (ibid: 2) defines a sustainably successful company as 'a sustainably working and successful company that is (1) operationally profitable, (2) financially stable and (3) competitive and that (4) complies with relevant environmental, health and safety (EHS) standards, that (5) actively manages environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG) issues and (6) acts as a good corporate citizen.'

These characteristics are combined with an underlying set of six indicators that monitor and measure sustainable client success (ibid: 6–7):

 Operational profitability: 'a company that is able to improve both the top line and bottom line of its profit and loss statement (P&L).' This is crucial to sustainable success as profitable operations provide room to expand business over the long term. Without profits, business continuity is in danger.

- 2. Financial stability: 'a company with a strong balance sheet mainly reflected in solvency and liquidity levels.' Together with operational profitability, a strong balance sheet is the basis for any company's sustainable growth. A weak balance sheet (low solvency and liquidity levels) threatens business continuity.
- 3. Competitiveness: 'a company that constantly works to maintain and improve its competitive position and manages risks appropriately.' A thorough understanding of the competitive environment, innovation and proper risk management increases the chances of survival over the long term and contributes to the company's sustainable growth in both its existing and future markets.
- 4. EHS compliance: 'a company that is in compliance with relevant EHS standards.' Compliance with EHS standards is both a fulfilment of basic often contractual expectations of stakeholders such as employees or investors and an enabling factor. Non-compliance with EHS standards may result in bad publicity, fines, interruption of business or even closure. All of this affects both financial performance and business continuity. In addition, EHS compliance gives companies a sound base to start working proactively on their ESG management.
- 5. Active ESG management: 'a company that (pro)actively manages the environmental, social and corporate governance aspects of its operations.' By managing ESG proactively, companies can run their operations in a more sustainable manner and, as a result, work towards maximising their positive impact and minimising their negative impact on society and the environment. It will also help them to maximise the productivity of employees and of production resources. In contrast to EHS compliance, corporate governance is included in this definition of active ESG management because such governance is driven less by compliance with standards and far more by active engagement between company management and investors.
- 6. Good corporate citizenship: 'a company that demonstrates value to all stakeholders and acts transparently.' While this appears less tangible than the other five key characteristics,

it is a fundamental aspect of sustainable success. Good corporate citizenship entails, for example, offering decent jobs, adding value in a local society, responsible tax practices and transparency. If a company performs well in this respect, it safeguards its 'licence to operate' and contributes towards the maximising of value for all company stakeholders.

How DFIs contribute to the financial and sustainability performance of client companies

The study includes a definition of a DFI's contributions to both the financial and sustainability performance of a client. These contributions are categorised as either *collective inherent contributions* that are not specifically targeted at individual clients, yet enable the successful delivery of individual contributions; or *individual client contributions*: interventions or actions by a DFI that go beyond the financing itself and that add value to individual clients.

The full model of a sustainably acting and successful client can be seen in Figure 11, with DEG's contributions shown in the circles to span more general contributions and those that are more client-specific.

Application of the model to a real company

Figure 12 shows the example of a DEG client: Aminoagro, a Brazilian micronutrient fertiliser company in which DEG invested in August 2013. Aminoagro provides a clear example of the process a company has to go to transform itself from being a family-owned business to a formally run company. When analysing the company on the basis of our definition of the six characteristics of the sustainably acting and financially successful client, two elements were found to need immediate support and one was in need of improvement (shown in red and amber, respectively, in Figure 12).

DEG was able to add value to the company by:

• providing strategic and operational advice to Aminoagro, particularly through its seat on the Board



Figure 11 DEG contributions and sustainable client success

Source: Bertoen and de Bruijn (2015).





Note: PE fund, private equity fund; CG, corporate governance.

Source: internal dissemination workshop at DEG, based on Bertoen and de Bruijn (2015: 46-54).

- advising Aminoagro on how to professionalise its structure while moving away from a fully family-owned business
- supporting its debt restructuring, and
- funding 50% of its environment and social (E&S) due diligence, which solved the challenges identified for its E&S management.

Conclusion

This study has helped DEG to identify and measure how it contributes to development impact through the sustainable success of its clients. The definition and evaluation of a sustainably acting and successful client were crucial elements leading to the development of DEG's theory of change and its Impact Monitoring and Steering System, the DERa.¹ This process has shifted the perspective from the clients to their development impact on local societies and the wider environment in developing countries.

References

Bertoen, K. and de Bruijn, M. (2015) *Defining and measuring sustainably successful clients and DEG's contributions to clients*. Cologne: prepared by Steward Redqueen BV in cooperation and on behalf of Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG) (www.deginvest.de/DEG-Documents-in-English/About-DEG/What-is-our-impact/Report_Defining_and_measuring_sustainably_successful_clients_DEG_contribution_2015_09.pdf)

DEG – Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (2018) 'We measure development outcome'. Webpage. Cologne: Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft (www.deginvest.de/ International-financing/DEG/%C3%9Cber-uns/Was-wir-bewirken/Wir-messen-Wirksamkeit/)

¹ For more details on DERa, please see 'We measure development outcome' (DEG, 2018).

Harmonisation of impact measurement

18 Harmonisation of impact measurement among development finance institutions and beyond: opportunities for European leadership

San Bilal and Jeske van Seters, European Centre for Development Policy Management

Abstract

Many development finance institutions (DFIs) want to strengthen their frameworks and capacity for the measurement of development impact and engage in initiatives to harmonise impact measurement across DFIs and beyond. The incentives for harmonisation relate primarily to comparability and credibility, the sharing of experiences and best practices, and cost-sharing. Different harmonisation initiatives can flourish in parallel, for different metrics at different levels and at different speeds, while some degree of coordination and complementarity among different initiatives is desirable. Europe is well placed to play a leadership role in harmonisation efforts, with the Association of European Development Finance Institutions (EDFI) and the European External Investment Plan (EIP) as important rallying points.

Introduction

As international financial institutions (IFIs) and DFIs take centre stage on the sustainable development finance agenda, their strategic orientations and operations are coming under increasing scrutiny. Greater transparency and accountability is expected from them, most notably in terms of their achievements. As a result, they must devote more efforts to the development of sound impact measurement methodologies and should coordinate their effort to adopt more harmonised assessment frameworks. European groupings such as EDFI and initiatives such as the European Fund for Sustainable Development (EFSD) could provide the impetus at the European level, in synergy with other international endeavours.

Great expectations

DFIs are expected to play a catalytic role in mobilising significant and sustainable development financing to support the achievement of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. This requires DFIs to scale up their ambitions and leverage more private finance for greater development impact, including in poorer countries and riskier environments, and for more disadvantaged people. DFIs must also ensure they do not crowd out the private sector but instead crowd it in, by contributions that go beyond what is already available in the market, i.e. the additionality principle. In other words, it is not enough for DFI activities to have a positive development impact: what matters is that the intervention itself would not have been possible had it relied on private actors alone.

Matching ambitions with reality checks

The high expectations of DFIs have sharpened the focus on their operations and their development impact. The dual objectives of mobilising more sustainable finance to contribute to the 'billions to trillions agenda' (B2T)¹ and achieving greater development impact may not always complement one another. Operating in riskier and poorer contexts tends to entail a lower leveraging ratio (of public funding mobilising private funding).

At the same time, DFIs must become more transparent on their strategic objectives and means of operations, and more accountable on how these relate not only to the anticipated development outcomes (i.e. *ex-ante* assessment of their engagement), but also to the effective development impact of their interventions (i.e. *ex-post* impact measurement). This is, however, a complex endeavour, in terms not only of defining what to measure (direct and indirect impacts, in both the short and long term), but also how to measure it, taking into account methodological and capacity constraints, data limitations and costs.

Diversity in impact measurement

In this light, many IFIs and DFIs are strengthening their impact measurement frameworks and capacity. However, measurement approaches differ considerably across DFIs, which hinders the comparability and credibility of their claims on impact. As an illustration, some DFIs attribute an increase in jobs fully to their investments, while others measure the total number of jobs supported by adjusting that figure to reflect their investment share.

Steps towards harmonised measurement

Efforts are being made to harmonise development impact measurement across DFIs and beyond, and for different metrics across different groupings. This is the case, for example, at the level of the IFI Working Group on Indicator Harmonization, which seeks to establish benchmarks for private sector investment operations through the Harmonized Indicators for Private Sector Operations (HIPSO). The Common Performance Assessment System (COMPAS) was another framework that enabled multilateral development banks (MDBs) to share experiences and improve their capacity to manage for development results (MfDR).

Broader initiatives, such as the Impact Measurement Project (IMP), also provide platforms and now a global network for practitioners (including IFIs and DFIs) on impact measurement and management. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) is another useful forum for the coordination of efforts on developing finance impact measurements, through the IMP global network (IMP, 2018), but also the new OECD Social Impact Investment Initiative (OECD, 2019).

One main driver for these efforts has been the desire to share experiences and best practices. They have also aimed to clarify concepts, adopt common definitions and provide possible guidance on key principles (AfDB et al., 2018).² Another incentive is to enhance the comparability, as well as the credibility, of the impact measurement, which requires the support of some form of internationally agreed framework. Other incentives at play can include cost-sharing – given the expense of developing and updating certain impact measurement models – and the ambition to reduce the reporting burden of shared clients.

Challenges

The differences between DFIs in terms of stakeholders, objectives, tools and portfolios may hinder harmonisation efforts. They make it harder to agree on a harmonised approach

¹ B2T captures the idea that to fund investment in the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) we need to shift from billions of dollars of aid to trillions in investment of all kinds (World Bank, 2015).

² This is the case for the recently adopted MDBs' Harmonized Framework for Additionality in Private Sector Operations (AfDB et al., 2018).

that fits the interests of all the DFIs involved. In addition, the larger the number of stakeholders involved, the more complicated it can be to reach a meaningful consensus that has direct operational implications. There is a danger in such harmonisation processes that an agreement is reached not around more ambitious approaches and better practices, but around lower common denominators.

Here, different groupings have different advantages and disadvantages. There is, therefore, no single ideal platform for the harmonisation of all metrics. For example, ad *hoc* coalitions on DFIs, such as the CDC Group-Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden (FMO)-Proparco coalition on models to measure employment effects have the advantage of being small networks of similar self-selected institutions with common objectives. While the OECD is a much larger and less agile setting, it does have the advantage of covering not only DFIs but also a broader range of stakeholders, including donors and private impact investors, thereby enhancing the scope of harmonisation efforts across the board.

It might be expected that different harmonisation initiatives develop and flourish in parallel, for different metrics at different levels and at different speeds, depending on the objectives pursued. However, this might be at the cost of efficiency and coherence as harmonisation efforts are conducted in a fragmented way and possibly at odds with one another. This may be problematic for comparability and aggregation of development impacts across DFIs, but also cumbersome for DFIs that belong to several initiatives. A certain degree of coordination and complementarity among different harmonisation initiatives seems desirable, as illustrated by the efforts of the OECD to that end.

European opportunities to lead

Europe has an important role to play in harmonisation. Not only is it part of most of the relevant international initiatives, but it can also help to lead the way. The EDFI has played an active role not only as a useful platform for coordination across European DFIs, but also in relation to other major European and international actors. EDFI members have, for example, agreed on Harmonized Environmental and Social Standards, are part of HIPSO, and have agreed a joint framework and methodology with MDBs for reporting on private-finance mobilisation. They could step up their collective efforts to agree on harmonised impact measurement.

One potential rallying point is the EIP with its EFSD, and the EFSD+ proposed for the next European Budget (EU) budget (2021–2027). The EFSD(+) provides an EU guarantee and blended finance channelled through DFIs and IFIs, and vetted by the European Commission. As such, the EIP brings DFIs and IFIs together around a common agenda and framework. The EFSD Regulation 2017/1601 requires the Commission to provide assessments, 'on the basis of indicators', of the aggregated development impact of the EFSD, notably on decent job creation and the eradication of poverty (Article 16).

Such aggregated impact assessment is only meaningful if individual projects and DFIs are assessed via similar indicators based on a common approach, which is not currently the case, as illustrated by the example of job creation mentioned above. In setting up reporting requirements, the EFSD and its successor the EFSD+ are excellent opportunities for DFIs and MDBs – at least for EDFI, the European Investment Bank (EIB) and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) – to further harmonise impact measurement in line with these EU objectives on blended finance, both building on and feeding into international initiatives.

Conclusion

Increased attention on the role of DFIs and IFIs to leverage sustainable finance and achieve development impact requires the further strengthening and harmonisation of impact measurement. This is far from a simple exercise, but it is necessary to ensure accountability, learn and adapt. Europe is well placed to play a key role in this endeavour, not least through the EIP and its EFSD(+). Now it is up to European institutions, DFIs and IFIs and other stakeholders to seize this opportunity.

- AfDB African Development Bank, AsDB Asian Development Bank, AIIB Asia Infrastructure Investment Bank, EBRD – European Bank for Reconstruction and Development et al. (2018) *Multilateral development banks' Harmonized Framework for Additionality in Private Sector Operations*. Washington DC: International Finance Corporation (www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/ topics_ext_content/ifc_external_corporate_site/development+impact/resources/ 201809-mdbs-additionality-framework)
- IMP Impact Measurement Project (2018) 'The IMP launches global network to mainstream impact management'. London: Impact Management Project (https://impactmanagementproject.com/ structured-network/the-imp-launches-global-network-to-mainstream-impact-management/)
- OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2019) Social impact investment 2019: the impact imperative for sustainable development. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264311299-en)
- World Bank (2015) From billions to trillions: transforming development finance. Document prepared jointly by the African Development Bank, Asian Development Bank, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, Inter-American Development Bank, the International Monetary Fund and World Bank Group for the 18 April 2015 Development Committee meeting. Washington DC: World Bank (siteresources.worldbank.org/DEVCOMMINT/Documentation/23659446/DC2015-0002(E) FinancingforDevelopment.pdf)



ODI is an independent, global think tank, working for a sustainable and peaceful world in which every person thrives. We harness the power of evidence and ideas through research and partnership to confront challenges, develop solutions, and create change.

ODI 203 Blackfriars Road London SE1 8NJ

+44 (0)20 7922 0300 info@odi.org

odi.org odi.org/facebook odi.org/twitter